

5 The Dickinson Alumnus Published Quarterly for the Alumni of Dickinson College and the Dickinson School of Law - Gilbert Malcolm, '15, '17L Editor . Associate Editors - Dean M. Hoffman, '02, Roger H. Steck, '26 ALUMNI COUNCIL Class of 1958 Class of 1956 Class of 1957 Homer M. Respess, '17 Mrs. Helen D. Gallagher, '26 Mrs. Helen W. Smethurst, '25 Winfield C. Cook, '32 Joseph G. Hildenberger, '33 Judge Charles F. Greevy, '35 Dr. R. Edward Steele, '35 Carl F. Skinner, Class of 1953 Hyman Goldstein, '15 C. Wendell Holmes, 21 Mrs. Jeanne W. Meade, '33 Dr. Edward C. Raffens-Paul A. Mangan, '34 John F. Spahr, '36 John D. Hopper, '48 Arthur L. Piccone, perger, '36 Dr. Weir L. King, '46 William E. Woodside, Class of 1954 Class of 1955 GENERAL ALUMNI ASSOCIATION OF DICKINSON COLLEGE PresidentC. Wendell Holmes Secretary Mrs. Helen D. Gallagher Vice-President Charles F. Greevy TreasurerHyman Goldstein

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The New 1915 GateCover	
Alumni Council in Annual Session 1	
Establish Alumni Club on Del-Mar-Va Peninsula 3	
Trustees Elect Members and Officers 4	
Three New Coaches Take Over Athletics	
Death Claims Veteran Carlisle Trustee	
Sudden Death Strikes Professor Smith	
Fifty New Lifers Send Total to 1,496 10	
Small, Good Squad Reports for Football 12	
Two Faculty Members Enter Retirement 13	
Advanced By American Cable Corporation 18	
Pfizer Elects Stuart Personnel Vice President 19	
Editorial 20	
Personals 22	
Obituary 34	

Life Membership \$40. May be paid in two installments of \$20 each, six months apart or in \$10 installments.

Alumni dues \$2.00 per year including \$1.00 for one year's subscription to the magazine. All communications should be addressed to

The Dickinson Alumnus, West College, Carlisle, Pa. "Entered as second class matter May 23, 1923, at the post office at Carlisle, Pennsylvania, under the Act of March 3, 1879."

THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS SEPTEMBER, 1955

Alumni Council In Annual Session

C. WENDELL HOLMES, '21, president of the General Alumni Association since 1949, was reelected to that office and the results of the annual mail ballot for Alumni Trustee and five seats on the Alumni Council were announced at the Commencement meeting of the Council in June.

The meeting was well attended and followed a dinner in Drayer Hall for the members and their wives or husbands. A highlight was the report of the joint committee of the Board of Trustees and the Council to study the athletic program of the College. The study was made last spring at the request of the Council.

Reelected with President Holmes were Mrs. Helen Douglas Gallagher, '26, secretary, and Hyman Goldstein, '15, treasurer. Judge Charles F. Greevy, '35, was elected vice-president, succeeding H. Monroe Ridgely, '26, who served two terms. The Council also reelected Gilbert Malcolm, '15, as alumni secretary and editor of THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS, with Dean Hoffman, '02, and Roger Steck, '26, as associate editors.

The tellers' report on the results of the mail ballot conducted in May revealed the reelection of Dr. J. Watson Pedlow, '29, as Alumni Trustee for a four-year term. Mrs. Gallagher was returned to the Council for three years. Also elected to the Council, all for three years, were Homer M. Respess, '17; Paul A. Mangan, '34; John F. Spahr, '46, and John D. Hopper, '48. The sixth new member of the Council is Arthur L. Piccone, representing the Class of 1955.

A progress report on the 1955 Alumni Annual Giving Fund was made by J. Milton Davidson, II, '33, chairman of the Fund's Steering Committee. The Fund then stood at close to \$50,000 and reached a record \$60,968 when the books closed three weeks later. He attributed the year-by-year growth of the Fund to several factors: the increasing awareness by more and more alumni of the importance of the Fund to the College; the hard work and loyalty of the Class Agents, and the leadership provided by Alumni Secretary Malcolm. He said that the College will be unable to take fullest advantage of industry's increasing interest in the welfare of high education until it engages a fulltime fund raiser.

Alumni clubs will put forth renewed effort this winter to interest more Dickinsonians in area alumni dinners, President Holmes indicated in his annual report. "Interest in alumni gatherings has been maintained by great numbers of faithful Dickinsonians," he said. "But there is still much to be done in this particular phase of alumni work."

He called upon officers of the clubs to set their dinner dates far enough ahead so that persons who would attend might have ample time to arrange their schedules. He referred to the Alumni Association's unusual success in obtaining Life Memberships and, in a reference to the new directory of living alumni, commented, "The new directory should be in the possession of every alumnus of the College."

The Alumni Secretary reported that Life and annual memberships in the Association totaled 2,243. All Life Membership payments are placed in the Lemuel T. Appold Memorial Fund, income of which goes to the Association and is

1956 Commencement Earlier

The 1956 Commencement will again fall on the first weekend of June. The past several Commencements have been over the second weekend of the month.

The 1956 dates will be June 1, 2 and 3. Friday, June 1, will be Senior Day. Saturday, June 2, will be Alumni Day and the Baccalaureate Service and the Commencement Exercises will be on Sunday, June 3.

used largely to meet the costs of publishing THE ALUMNUS. The Fund stood at \$54,782.

The findings of the special committee set up last winter to study the athletic program of the College were reported by Joseph G. Hildenberger, '33, a Council member, who served on the committee. At its Homecoming meeting last November, Council called for the study in a resolution that expressed "serious concern" with the unfavorable effect of the poor record of Dickinson teams upon students and alumni and upon student recruitment.

During the study, Hildenberger reported, the committee interviewed members of the Board of Athletic Control, the Director of Athletics, the Student Senate, the Student Interfraternity Council, student athletes and faculty members.

Among the findings, he reported, were: the College awards scholarships on the basis of academic proficiency and need and not for athletic skills, that no contact is made with high school athletes for the purpose of playing on Dickinson teams, that some faculty members are antagonistic to athletics and manifest this attitude by penalizing athletes who are forced to miss classes for participation in games, that many students prefer to take part in intramural sports rather than go out for the varsities, and that the coaches had failed to do a satisfactory job in "selling" varsity participation to athletic students.

It also was found, Hildenberger reported, that "there seems to be an armed armistice between the athletic staff and the student body" and little effort on the part of either groups to get together, although there was no lack of cooperation between the Board of Athletic Control and the Athletic Director. Some fraternities, the committee found, were more concerned with success in intramural sports than in encouraging athletes in their membership to aspire to varsity teams.

The committee made a number of recommendations. These were, in brief: 1) an individual applying for a scholarship should not be penalized because he has athletic ability, but that ability should be taken into consideration provided all other conditions for a scholarship be present, 2) no athlete should be subsidized, but scholarships should be made on the basis of the applicant's scholastic worth and possible contribution to extracurricular activities, 3) larger representation of faculty and student body on the Board of Athletic Control, 4) schedules should consist of teams having similar athletic policies and academic standards. and there should be an intersectional game each year in one or more sports to stimulate interest, 5) faculty cooperation in adjusting classroom schedules to avoid conflict with team practice hours, 6) fraternities encourage members to participate in intercollegiate sports, 7) the Interfraternity Council appoint a special committee to further No. 6 recommendation, and 8) because "enthusiasm for intercollegiate sports is largely in proportion to the emphasis placed on such sports by fraternities" this becomes a responsibility of the Interfraternity Council.

Council representatives on the committee with Hildenberger were Clarence B. Hendrickson, '38, and Weston Overholt, '50. Trustee members were Judge Karl E. Richards, '10; F. E. Masland, Jr., '18, and Paul L. Hutchison, '18.

Establish Alumni Club On Del-Mar-Va Peninsula

THE Southern Del-Mar-Va Dickinson Club was formed following a dinner of 44 Dickinsonians held at the Plimhimmon Hotel in Ocean City, Md., on August 24, when officers were elected and plans laid for the next meeting on the first Wednesday of August in 1956.

To differentiate it from the Dickinson Club of Delaware, which usually meets in Wilmington, the alumni chose the name Southern Del-Mar-Va Dickinson Club and decided to hold meetings annually at the popular Maryland resort, Ocean City.

Dr. Harry T. Smith, '26, dentist of Salisbury, Md., was elected the first president and the Rev. Ralph L. Minker, '47, pastor of the Atlantic Methodist Church in Ocean City, was chosen as vice president. Mrs. Mary Hering Birnbrauer, '21, teacher at Rehoboth Beach, Del., was named secretary-treasurer.

C. Wendell Holmes, '21, President of the General Alumni Association, effected the organization of the new club. He spent several days at Ocean City with Mrs. Holmes while on this mission.

Vice President Gilbert Malcolm, in his role as alumni secretary, acted as toastmaster. He has been an annual visitor to the Maryland resort for 20 years. Other representatives from the college included Financial Vice President, George Shuman, Jr.; Prof. Benjamin D. James, Director of Admissions and Prof. Milton W. Eddy. Included in the delegation from Carlisle was Hyman Goldstein, Treasurer of the General Alumni Association.

James Kenney, valdictorian of the Wicomico High School of Salisbury, Md., last June and Albert Stevens, III, of Georgetown, Del., who enter the college this month, were among the guests as was William R. Waterman, of Salisbury, who returns to the college this month as a junior. Other students present were Walter H. Honaman, '56, of York, Pa., who has held a summer job as desk clerk at the Hotel Hastings for several years and Sue Shoun, '58, of Oxford, Pa., who was a waitress at the Hotel Atlantic during the summer.

Alumni who attended, some with their wives, included Dr. J. Paul Slaybaugh, President of Wesley Junior College, Dover, Del., and Bernard Forcey, '20, of the faculty there; L. Creston Beauchamp, '10, lawyer of Princess Anne, Md.; M. Wilson Harris, '18, Centreville, Md.; Richard A. Shields, '12, Lewes, Del.; Marvin H. Tawes, '26, Crisfield and his brother-in-law, Dr. John W. Nycum, '26, surgeon of Everett, Pa., who was visiting his wife's home in Crisfield at the time; Austin A. Banks, '09, L. Bradley Taylor, '20, William T. Guy, '48, and Avis A. Nock, '56, all of Salisbury, Md., and Roy W. Hallman, '31, of Seaford, Del.

Another guest was Mrs. W. M. Mc-Allen, who recited a poem she said her cousin, the late Dr. James Henry Morgan, had taught her. She made her home with Dr. Morgan for several years just before his death. She came to the dinner from the Palmer Home, Dover, Del., where she now lives, with Dr. Slaybaugh.

Elected Conference Delegate

Dr. Herbert E. Richards, '41, who received the Dickinson alumni citation in religious education in 1948, has been elected to be delegate to the Methodist church's general conference by the Idaho conference, which he serves. The general conference will be held next April in Minneapolis.

Dr. Richards is minister of First Methodist church in Boise, Idaho, where the membership has tripled since he took over the pastorate in 1951. The members this spring voted to build a large new church and church school plant.

The Richards have three children; Herbert, Marcey, and little Robin Lois, born last December 30. Mrs. Richards is the former Lois Marcey.

Trustees Elect Members and Officers

S EVERAL changes in the membership of the Board of Trustees were made at the June meeting or have taken place since.

Herbert M. Gould, of Detroit, general manager of the Motors Holding Division of General Motors and president and director of the Motors Holding of Canada Limited, a General Motors subsidiary, was elected a Trustee.

It was reported to the Board that Dr. J. Watson Pedlow, '29, of Chester, Pa., had been reelected an Alumni Trustee in the annual mail election of the General Alumni Association.

The Board accepted the resignations of General James G. Steese, '02, who was first elected a Trustee in 1919 and of Dean M. Hoffman, '02, who became a Trustee in 1925. They both were named Trustees Emeriti.

Shortly before the meeting, on March 25, 1955, death removed Judge Edward M. Biddle, '86, who was a member of the Board of longest continuous service, having been first appointed in 1905.

Since the meeting on July 26, death removed another Trustee of long service in the passing of Samuel M. Goodyear, of Carlisle, who was first elected in 1937.

The Board adopted the recommendation of the Committee on Nominations for the reelection of those members whose terms expired last June, each for a four-year term to expire in 1959: Merle W. Allen, Carlisle; Justice John C. Arnold, Clearfield; G. Harold Baker, Aberdeen, Md.; James T. Buckley, Philadelphia; Lloyd Wellington Johnson, Caldwell, N. J.; Dr. Charles W. Kitto, Philadelphia; Andrew H. Phelps, Pittsburgh; Glenn E. Todd, Carlisle, and Judge Robert E. Woodside, Millersburg.

The officers were reelected. They are President Boyd Lee Spahr, Vice-President Frank E. Masland, Jr., Secretary George Henry Ketterer, Treasurer George Shuman, Jr., Assistant Treasurer Carl J. Adams and Assistant Treasurer George A. Bobletz,



HERBERT M. GOULD

Dr. Herbert M. Gould, the new Trustee, is a native of Philadelphia and was educated in the schools of Ardmore, Dickinson Seminary, Wesleyan University and the Washington and Lee and Cornell University Law Schools. In 1951, Rio Grande College, Ohio, conferred upon him the honorary degree of Doctor of Business Administration.

Shortly after beginning the practice of law in Philadelphia, Dr. Gould joined the General Motors Acceptance Corporation and soon afterward was transferred to the General Counsel's Staff of General Motors Corporation in New York City. Since 1929 he has been with General Motors Holding Corporation and became general manager of the Division in 1949.

Dr. Gould is a member of Alpha Chi Rho and Delta Sigma Rho fraternities, the Masonic Lodge in Ardmore, Pa., and the Automobile Old Timers.

For a number of years, Dr. Gould has been most active in the United Foundation of Detroit, probably the leader in its field, repeatedly establishing collection records. Last year it raised more than \$13,500,000. Dr. Gould has been a benefactor of the college and a few years ago established the \$100 drama prizes in the memory of his parents, William H. G. Gould and Myrtle Drum Gould. He is especially interested in the Mermaid Players and in each of the past two years entertained them at a dinner at the Hotel Hershey.

Dr. and Mrs. Gould reside at Grosse Pointe, Mich. They have a daughter, Mrs. Charles White. Dr. Gould is the brother of Professor William Drum Gould, of the faculty.

Has Sermon Published

Dr. Lowell M. Atkinson, '32, pastor of St. James Methodist Church, Elizabeth, N. J., is the author of a sermon, "Clouds Without Water," published in the September issue of *The Upper Room Pulpit*.

Dr. Atkinson has served previous pastorates in New Jersey, Virginia and Maryland. He was educated at Dickinson College, Drew University, The University of Birmingham and Oxford University. He has served his church in numerous elective positions.

Trustees Name Two Additional Vice Presidents

B Y ACTION of the Board of Trustees at the annual June meeting, Dr. Frederic W. Ness, '33, Dean of the College since 1952, was elected academic vice-president and George Shuman, Jr., '37, treasurer of the College since 1948, was elected financial vice-president and director of the development program. Gilbert Malcolm, '15, continues as vicepresident.

As academic vice-president, Dr. Ness is also Dean of the College and Professor of English.

Under the chairmanship of Sidney D. Kline, '24, of Reading, Pa., the executive committee of the Ten Year Development Program had studied ways to speed the acquisition of buildings, the procurement of additional endowment and current gifts. Some time ago this committee concluded that there should be no major financial campaign but that a director of development should be found to carry on a continuing year in and year out effort. A number of men qualified for this work were interviewed.

At the end of April the committee decided that Mr. Shuman was best qualified for this post and recommended to the Trustees in June that he be elected and given the title of financial vice-president.

For the time being, Mr. Shuman will continue as treasurer of the College. He will be released from his other duties as superintendent of grounds and buildings, manager of the book store and business manager of athletics, and the supervision of certain miscellaneous matters.

Four Receive Harvard Degrees

Four graduates of the College were awarded degrees at the Commencement Exercises of Harvard University on June 16.

Kenneth A. Rhodes, Jr., '52, of Waverly, Pa., received the LL.B. degree upon his graduation from Harvard Law School. He is now associated with James K. Peck and Mott Peck with law offices in the Scranton Electric Building, Scranton, Pa.

Donald E. Graves, '53, of Cambridge, Mass., received the degree of Master of Arts. For two years, he was a student in the Soviet Union Program under the International and Regional Studies Committee. His major field was Russian History and his thesis was on the Russian Judicial Reform of 1864.

Norman O. Ranz, '38, of Philadelphia, was awarded the degree of Master of Business Administration with distinction and Emil R. Weiss, '53, of Glen Ridge, N. J., was awarded the degree of Master of Business Administration with high distinction.

Three New Coaches Take Over Athletics



DAVID B. EAVENSON

INTERCOLLEGIATE athletics at Dickinson are in new hands as the result of three appointments in the Department of Physical Education occasioned by the departure over the summer of A. C. "Slim" Ransom, football and basketball coach and department chairman; Lindy Lauro, his coaching assistant, and John S. Steckbeck, a member of the coaching staff for nearly 10 years.

The new members of the department, all with coaching responsibilities, are: David B. Eavenson and Joseph G. Du-Charme who together conducted the successful athletic program of Wyoming Seminary, boys' preparatory school in Kingston, Pa., and Brinton C. Piez, formerly of the Upper Iowa University coaching staff.

Ransom, who came to Dickinson in 1952 from W. and J., announced his resignation in April to become principal of the Raymondville High School, Tex. The position will enable him to devote fulltime to school administration. Ransom's three Dickinson football teams won 8 and lost 17 and his basketball teams won 20 and lost 35.

Steckbeck was swimming and track



BRINTON C. PIEZ

coach and the trainer of all teams. He left the College for a position in Lehigh University's athletic department. Lauro, a Pitt alumnus, who came to Dickinson with Ransom, plans to continue in college coaching.

Under the new setup Eavenson is department chairman, athletic director and swimming and baseball coach. A native of Kingston, Pa., he was a sophomore at Oglethorpe University in 1941 when called to the Army by World War II. He was twice wounded in France. At war's end in 1945 he went to Wyoming Seminary as teacher and coach and became athletic director in 1951. He studied at summer sessions at Penn State and Bucknell and the latter university awarded him a B.S. degree this past summer. He will work for a master's degree.

Piez (pronounced to rhyme with ease) is the football coach and frosh basketball coach. A native of Norristown, Pa., he grew up in Audubon, N. J., and after graduating from high school there in 1942 he spent a year at Mercersburg Academy. He was inducted into military service while a freshman at Western



JOSEPH G. DUCHARME

Maryland College and after his discharge following three years with the Army Amphibious Engineers he entered Temple University. There he was center on three football teams and on graduating in February, 1950, his classmates voted him "the outstanding senior." He won a graduate assistantship in physical education at Ohio State University, which gave him a master's degree in 1951. Piez then went to Upper Iowa University to coach basketball and assist with football. His Dickinson position marks his fourth year in the coaching field, his first as a head football coach.

DuCharme is the varsity basketball and track coach and football assistant. His basketball team at Wyoming Seminary last winter was undefeated. A native of New York City, he attended Keveny Academy and graduated from the high school of Cohoes, N. Y., in 1942 and after three years of war service with the U. S. Coast Guard he entered Ithaca College, graduating with a B.S. in physical education in 1948. After a year at New York University, where he received a master's degree, he took his first coach job at Wyoming Seminary. Assisted by Eavenson, he turned out fine football and basketball teams.

Join Law School Faculty

Clinton R. Weidner, '37, '39L, and Thomas H. Bietsch, '41, '48L, prominent attorneys of Cumberland County, in Pennsylvania, were appointed to the faculty of the Dickinson School of Law in July by D. Fenton Adams, '47, '49L, acting dean of the school.

Weidner, who will teach criminal law and criminal procedure, is serving the last year of a four-year term as district attorney of the county. Before his election in 1951 he served a year as assistant district attorney. He maintains his law office in New Cumberland where he is associated with Russell B. Updegraff, '25, '29L.

Beitsch will teach evidence and practice courts. He is solicitor for the Borough of Carlisle and is associated with the law firm of Irwin and Irwin, in Carlisle. A veteran of World War II, he was recalled to active duty for six months in 1951 during the Korean hostilities.

In New Masland Post

Robert Paul Masland, '19, became in June first vice-president and chairman of the finance committee of C. H. Masland & Sons, Carlisle, the rug and carpet manufacturing firm with which he has been associated since his graduation from College.

Masland, whose brother, F. E. Masland, Jr., '18, is chairman of the board of the corporation founded in 1897 by their grandfather, had been the treasurer for nearly 25 years. To these duties were added those of secretary in 1948.

Robert Paul Masland is also a member of the board of C. H. Masland & Sons and a director of the Amber Realty Company, Philadelphia, and the Carlisle Trust Company. He serves on the Carlisle Borough Municipal Authority.

An active Dickinsonian, he has been a member of the Board of Athletic Control of the College for a number of years and is active in the alumni affairs of Alpha Chi Rho.

Death Claims Veteran Carlisle Trustee

S AMUEL M. GOODYEAR, who has been a trustee of the College since 1937, died in the Carlisle Hospital on July 16 after an illness of several months. He was 84 years of age. He was the father of Jacob M. Goodyear, '17, and Donald H. Goodyear, '23.

Throughout his life, Mr. Goodyear was vitally interested in the affairs of the College, in the community and in the First Lutheran Church, where for 40 years he was superintendent of the Sunday School and for many years president of the Church Council.

For 50 years he served as a director of the Farmers Trust Company in Carlisle and for a great part of that time was chairman of the board until his retirement in 1954. That year the directors elected his son, Donald H. Goodyear, as a director to succeed his father.

Mr. Goodyear gained national prominence in 1924-25 when he served as Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania F&AM. He was a member of both the York Rite and Scottish Rite Bodies, the Shrine and a 33° Mason of the Northern Masonic Jurisdiction of the Scottish Rite. For many years he was a member of the Committee of Masonic Homes at Elizabethtown. He maintained his interest in Masonry throughout his life.

For more than 25 years he served as secretary of the Carlisle School Board, was active in the formation of State School Employees Retirement Fund. He was a member of its board for 20 years. He was president of the Hamilton Library and at various times during his life headed campaigns for civilian defense, the Liberty Loan and for charitable and civic institutions.

Mr. Goodyear left public school at the age of 13 to take a course at a Harrisburg business school and then became secretary to the division freight agent on the old Gettysburg and Harrisburg Railroad, later became a part of the Reading Com-

pany system. He left that position at the age of 20 to start a coal business in Carlisle and was a member of the firm of Goodyear Bros. for nearly 50 years, engaged in the retail sale of coal and building supplies.

Mr. Goodyear was a brother of the late Charles A. Goodyear, who for many years directed the Men's Glee Club at the College and also a brother of the late Fisk Goodyear, who at one time was postmaster of Carlisle.

Funeral services were held in the First Lutheran Church in Carlisle and interment was made in Ashland Cemetery.

On Navy Cruise

Frederick C. Gladeck, Jr., '34, president of the Machine and Tool Designing Co., was a special guest of the U. S. Navy for a four day cruise on the U. S. S. Champlain in July.

The cruise enabled him to observe, under actual working conditions, the operation of special devices his engineering firm has developed for the Navy.

Gladeck is treasurer of the Young President Organization, an association limited to young men who became presidents of million dollar firms before they reach 40 and, also, is a member of the Chamber of Commerce of Greater Philadelphia. He resides at 538 Hampshire Road, Drexel Park.

In Duke Program

Prof. Margaret Ramos, who teaches Spanish at the College, was one of 16 college and university professors from all parts of the country selected by Duke University to take part in its Visiting Scholars Program during the past summer. A grant-in-aid enabled her to spend six weeks at Duke in independent study and research.

THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS

Sudden Death Strikes Professor Smith

PROF. HENRY E. SMITH, '11, a teacher at the College since 1942 and the acting chairman of the department of physics, died unexpectedly August 19 in Carlisle four days after he and Mrs. Smith returned home from a two-month tour of England and the Continent. Stricken with a heart attack during the night, he succumbed a few hours later in the Carlisle Hospital.

Following their arrival in New York City on the Queen Elizabeth, the Smiths spent the next day there and then returned to Carlisle. To friends greeting him on the campus, Prof. Smith complained of feeling tired, but he looked to be in his usual good health. He was 63 years old.

He devoted his life to teaching. He had been on the faculty of the Harrisburg Academy for 18 years when in 1942 he was called to the College to help with Civilian Pilot Training and other wartime programs. He continued on the faculty after the war and at his death held the rank of associate professor. He became the acting head of the physics department a year ago.

Prof. Smith was more often called "Colonel." Following World War I service in France as a lieutenant in the Field Artillery, he entered the reserves and obtained the rank of lieutenant colonel. A friendly, even-tempered man, he was fond of recalling his college days. His students admired and respected him.

Born in Delta, Pa., in 1892, he was the son of James and Mary Kurtz Smith and entered Dickinson from Jarrettsville, Md. After his graduation in 1911 he taught at the Dover Conference Academy, Dover, Del., until 1914 when he went to the Harrisburg Academy as head of the mathematics department and track coach. He remained at the latter school until it closed in 1941. Columbia University awarded him a master's degree in 1938.

For many years he served as secretary of the board of trustees of the Dickinson chapter of Kappa Sigma. He was a mem-



HENRY E. SMITH

ber of the Episcopal Church and a Mason. His professional affiliations included the American Mathematical Society, Pennsylvania Academy of Science, American Institute of Physics and the American Association of Physics Teachers.

Prof. Smith's first wife, Mrs. Rosanna Schaeffer Smith, died in 1944. He married Mrs. Eleanor Wootten Hemsley, of Baltimore, Md., who survives him. Other survivors are a stepson, Lt. Col. Richard T. Hemsley, Baltimore; his mother, Mrs. Mary K. Smith, Jarrettsville, Md.; two brothers, E. LeRoy Smith, of Jarrettsville, and Howell K. Smith, Minneapolis, Minn., and a sister, Dr. Sara E. Smith, of the faculty of Western Maryland College.

Burial was in Baltimore following services in Carlisle.

In New Railroad Post

Effective July 1st, W. D. Gordon, '36, was appointed Assistant General Freight Agent of the Pennsylvania Railroad at Pittsburgh. Waxy's new address is 810 Pennsylvania Station, Pittsburgh 22, Pa.

Fifty New Lifers Send Total To 1,496

S INCE the publication of 1,446 names of Life Members of the General Alumni Association in the May number of THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS, fifty checks have been received in one of the largest gains in years. Twenty-two of these new Lifers were recorded following the publication of the Directory and after the mailing of letters from C. Wendell Holmes, president of the General Alumni Association. The total is now 1,496.

While the May number was on the press the first subscriptions in the new series were received. The first came from Mrs. John L. Wightman, the former Sara Whitcomb, '31, of Prospect Park, Pa., and that same day a check was received from Dr. Alvin B. Biscoe, '27, Dean of the Faculties of the University of Georgia.

On June 1, Mrs. H. Royce Martin, the former Helen Jackson, '35, of Shippensburg, Pa., became a Lifer.

Ralph Wallis, '26, who lives in Arlington, Va., sent in the next subscription. He is photo editor of the Associated Press Bureau in Washington, D. C. He has two sons, 4-year-old Michael and 3-year-old Gregory.

That same day a \$40 check arrived from Charles H. Davison, '38, attorney with offices in Chambersburg, Pa., and a \$40 check also arrived from Thomas C. Mills, Sr., '19, who is engaged in the insurance and real estate business in York, Pa.

The next day a \$40 check came from Harriet Matter Keller, '35, of Scotia, N. Y. She is the wife of Gilbert M. Keller, '39. Later that same day a similar check was received from Jesse B. Rubright, '29, of Buffalo, N. Y., who is assistant combustion engineer at the Buffalo, N. Y., plant of the Republic Steel Co.

Four subscriptions came on June 6. The first of these was from J. Frank Puderbaugh, '17, superintendent of schools of Lock Haven, Pa. The second

Becomes Lifer At 96!

An exemplary challenge was given to every Dickinsonian in June by the Rev. Alpheus S. Mowbray, retired minister of Washington, D. C. He became a Lifer to mark his 70th reunion year as a member of the Class of 1885.

He was born on December 30, 1858 and became a Lifer after he had passed his 96th birthday!

was from Rev. Thomas R. Jeffrey, '16, minister of the Philadelphia Methodist Conference, who now lives in Wind Gap, Pa. The third was from Mrs. S. B. Bashour, the former Louise Charley, '46, of Huston, Texas, and the fourth from Theodore Ralph Bonwit, '53, who lives in Pikesville, Md., and is associated with the Hutzler Bros. Co. in Baltimore.

While he was spending a week at Allenberry on vacation, Dr. G. Wesley Pedlow, Jr., '34, of Lock Haven, Pa., called at the office with his wife and son. He then turned over his check for \$40 for Life Membership.

Claire Alice Pinney, of South Orange, N. J., was the first member of the class of 1955 to become a Life Member. Following her graduation she entered service with the Marine Corps. The first man to become a Lifer from that class was Kenneth B. Lewis, who now lives in Baltimore, Md.

The next forty dollar check came from James E. Meneses, '47, who is practicing law with offices in the Morrison Bldg., King of Prussia, Pa. The same day the name of E. Vincent Gulden, '37, of Dayton, O., was added to the list of Lifers.

When they came back for their class reunions, Mrs. Helen Purvis Blew, '20, of R. D. No. 2, Bridgeton, N. J.,

and Chester H. Wagner, '35, of the faculty of the Lawrenceville School, Lawrenceville, N. J., became Lifers.

During the Commencement four more alumni became Life Members. The first of these who became a Lifer while attending his 35th reunion was George H. Burke who is in government employment in Washington at Coast Guard Headquarters. The second was William H. Davenport, '08, lawyer, of Metairie, La. The third was that of Samuel C. Miller, Jr., '41, who is teaching in the Edison Junior High School in Harrisburg. The last came from Donald R. Mikesell, '50, who is practicing law in Mehaffey, Pa.

Before he left for his summer vacation, Professor John C. Pflaum also became a Life Member of the General Alumni Association.

After Commencement a \$40 check was received from Dr. Harold L. Stewart, '24, who lives in Rockville, Md., where he is practicing medicine.

The next \$40 check was received from Mrs. Dorothy Tyson Newman, '51, wife of Maj. Gen. A. S. Newman, which was mailed from Heidelberg, Germany. The same mail brought in the check of J. William Stuart, '32, vice president of Chas. Pfizer & Co., of Brooklyn, N. Y.

At this point the Directory was mailed to alumni and the letters of C. Wendell Holmes, which brought in many payments of annual dues and 23 new Life memberships. The first came from Dr. E. Blaine Hays, '24, obstetrician and gnecologist of Carlisle, and two others from the Rev. Robert M. Hinkelman, '48, minister of Pharr, Texas, and Ruth Louise Troster, '49, of Norristown, Pa.

Four of these new Lifers raised the Class of 1955 total to six. They are Irwin J. Nelson, of Freeport, N. Y.; O. Jane Herr, of Lancaster, Pa.; Daniel P. Parlin, of Margate City, N. J., and Wilma V. Hatter, of Ruxton, Md.

A single day brought eight checks. These came from Dr. Neihl J. Williamson, '40, physician of Jersey Shore, Pa.; the Rev. F. Douglas Milbury, '28, minister of Dover, Del.; Ammon L. Miller, '24, lawyer of Wilmette, Ill.; Mrs. Harry Lackey, the former Betty Mc-Carthy, '53, of Jacksonville, Fla.; Melvin C. Tabler, '33, engineer of Collingswood, N. J.; Mrs. Maurice J. McKeown, the former Mary VanCamp, '25, of Maplewood, N. J.; Robert E. Bull, '48, lawyer of Nescopeck, Pa., and William J. Batrus, '38, lawyer of Washington, D. C.

Another day brought four more. These came from Charles S. Lee, Jr., '51, of Flourtown, Pa.; Dr. George L. Rubright, '42, physician of Wernersville, Pa.; William R. Headington, '39, of Oaklyn, N. J., and George C. Kaplan, '52, of New Rochelle, N. Y.

The first days of September brought the last three checks. They came from Dr. Franklin C. Werner, physician of Kansas City. Mo.; Chaplain John W. Weise, '25, of San Francisco and Gertrude E. Klemm, '27, teacher of Harrisburg, Pa.

Life membership costs \$40 and if desired may be paid in four annual \$10 installments. It carries life membership in the General Alumni Association and a life subscription to THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS.

Receives Honorary Degree

Dr. Clyde E. Wildman, president emeritus of DePauw University, who came to the Dickinson faculty in 1952 as visiting professor of English Bible, has been named Thomas Bowman Professor of Bible, succeeding to the chair left vacant by the retirement of Dr. Lewis Guy Rohrbaugh last year. Another honor came to Dr. Wildman, over the summer when DePauw University, which he served as president from 1936 until his retirement in 1951, recalled him to the campus at commencement to receive the honorary degree of Doctor of Literature. In the citation, he was praised as an "excellent educator and administrator, noted teacher and warm friend."

Small, Good Squad Reports For Football

F OURTEEN lettermen and a number of good prospects from last year's freshman eleven are the foundations upon which the new coaching staff of Briton "Brit" Piez, Joseph DuCharme and David Eavenson hope to build a winning football team in their first season at the college.

The 32-year-old Piez, a former Temple center, who was an assistant coach at Upper Iowa University the past three years, heads the staff. DuCharme and Eavenson coached together at Woyming Seminary, boys' preparatory school, and had a fine record. (For further information about the new coaches see page 6.)

The ever-youthful Richard "Mac" McAndrews, on hand for his 44th season at the College, is serving in an advisory capacity and also as team trainer. Two Law School students, Raymond Phillips, '53, and Victor Bihl, who was on Princeton's 1951 undefeated team, fill out the staff. They are the freshman coaches.

The schedule for Dickinson's 71st season of intercollegiate football lists attractive home games against Western Maryland, Carnegie Tech, Juniata and Johns Hopkins. Juniata is the Parents Day opponent on October 22 and the Blue Jays of Hopkins will provide the opposition in the big Homecoming Day game November 12.

The schedule also features resumption of relations with Swarthmore, after a lapse of eight years and the initiation of football relations with Carnegie Tech. Swarthmore was Dickinson's first gridiron opponent back in 1885.

Practice started on Biddle Field September 1, two full weeks before the reopening of College. Coach Piez and his staff lost little time in getting acquainted with the players and installing a new offensive system. The split T formation employed the past three years by A. C. Ransom, the former coach, was discarded for the split box attack with spread formations.

1955 Football Schedule

Sept. 24—Western Md. ...Home
Oct. 1—SwarthmoreAway
Oct. 8—F. & M.Away
Oct. 15—Carnegie Tech ..Home
Oct. 22—JuniataHome
(Parents' Day)
Oct. 29—Randolph-Macon Away
Nov. 5—P. M. C.Away
Nov. 12—Johns Hopkins ..Home
(Homecoming Day)
(Home Games—2:00 P.M.)

The enthusiastic squad is small in number but there are veteran players for nearly every position and some fine sophomore prospects. One of the big tasks of the new coaches is the development of replacements. They also want to step up overall team speed, particularly on attack.

Albert Barilar and Harold Kissell, seniors, are veteran quarterbacks and will do the passing. Charles Garwood, senior, and Joseph Donatelli are the only other lettermen for the backfield but there are good sophomore candidates in John Smith, 210-pound fullback, William Hutchison and Robert Kline.

Veteran material is more plentiful up front. Robert Woodside, a great center last season as a sophomore, is back and so are James Nellas, Robert Myers and Richard Graham, guards; Andrew Cominsky and Hughey Haughney, tackle bulwarks, and Frank Schwartz, a star pass receiver, Don Allegretto and Robert Koontz, ends. Harvey Bair and Robertson Taylor are sophomore standouts.

The team will miss David Orbock, a great star at guard for three years, and Joseph Kunda, rugged tackle, who were graduated.

Two Faculty Members Enter Retirement

D^{R.} WELLINGTON A. PARLIN, chairman of the department of physics and Dr. J. Clair McCullough, '09, Richard V. C. Watkins Professor of Education and a former acting dean of the College, retired from the faculty with the close of the academic year last June 30. "They served the College with great fidelity and higher education with devotion," said President William W. Edel.

Dr. Parlin, who came to Dickinson in 1930 to head the physics department following the death of Dr. Frederick Mohler, was on leave of absence throughout the 1954-55 term and retired because of his health. He found time in a busy teaching career to invent a ratiometer and refractometer. He also invented devices for demonstrating the difference in sensitivity of the eye to green and red light and for measuring the coefficient of restitution of small spheres.

A native of Des Moines, Iowa, he graduated from Simpson College in 1921, received the master's degree at the University of Johns Hopkins and his doctoral of philosophy at Johns Hopkins. He was on the faculty of Emory University from 1923 to 1926 and was a technical research assistant at Johns Hopkins when appointed to the Dickinson post. He and Mrs. Parlin will continue to make their home in Carlisle.

Dr. McCullough, who retired on age, devoted 46 years to teaching. Called to the Dickinson faculty in 1947, he applied wide experience in public school work to his courses in education and teacher training. Following the illness of Dr. Russell I. Thompson, he was acting dean of the College for a period in 1950, was given a full professorship in 1951 and named to the Watkins Chair of Education in 1953.

Beginning his career in Waynesboro, Pa., in 1909, he became principal of the high school there in 1914 and was superintendent of schools from 1918 to 1930. For four years he was director of education at the Pennsylvania Industrial School, in Huntingdon, and then became state supervisor of education for the National Youth Administration. Returning to public school work, he was supervising principal of the Washington Township schools, Franklin County, Pa., from 1944 to 1947, and was called to the College in the latter year.

Dickinson gave Dr. McCullough the master of arts degree in 1912 and he received his Ph.D. in education at New York University in 1939. A prominent Presbyterian layman, he is a member of the National Educational Association, the Pennsylvania Educational Association, the Association of Liberal Arts College Teachers of Education and other professional organizations. He and Mrs. Mc-Cullough plan to continue to live in Carlisle.

Professor Kuebler Leaves

Prof. Roy R. Kuebler, Jr., '33, a teacher of mathematics at the College since 1941, resigned in May to take a position in Washington, D. C., as mathematician in the Research and Development Division of the Office of Chief of Ordnance. Department of the Army. He is located in the Pentagon.

He was alumni adviser of the Phi Kappa Psi chapter, whose undergraduate members tendered a farewell dinner in his honor just before Commencement and presented him with a gold wrist watch as a token of their esteem and affection.

He had been associated with the College since his graduation with Phi Beta Kappa honors in 1933. For two years he was the assistant librarian and for the next six the superintendent of buildings and grounds and assistant treasurer. He was appointed to the faculty in 1941 to teach mathematics and at the time of his resignation held the rank of associate professor.

Alpha Chi Rho Celebrates 50th Anniversary

By CLARENCE M. SHEPHERD, '10

M EMBERS of the Phi Beta Chapter of Alpha Chi Rho returned to the campus during commencement season last June to celebrate the Chapter's 50th Anniversary. Two charter members, James E. Dunning, '05, and Roy M. Dunkelberger, '06, were present. Jesse C. Phillips, '06, and Lynn H. Harris, '06, sent greetings. The five other original members of the Chapter, which was instituted January 21, 1905, were among the 46 departed Brothers for whom a memorial service was held.

Robert E. Knupp, '30, Chairman of the anniversary committee, was toastmaster of the banquet at the Molly Pitcher Hotel. Jim Dunning discussed the early days of the Chapter. Thinking it might be politic, as well as courteous, to call on President George Edward Reed of Dickinson, Jim stated that two of the national officers and two of the initiates visited him the day following the initiation and acquainted him with the principles of the new Fraternity, "to which he seemed cordial and friendly." Among the initiates were the editor-inchief, the managing editor, and the business manager of the Dickinsonian. The Chapter received good publicity.

The highlight of the banquet was the burning of the second mortgage on the Chapter house by R. Harper Sheppard, '35, finance committee chairman, and chairman of the committee which made possible the purchase of the house on the corner of High and College Streets in 1946. Homer M. Respess, '17, Secretary-Treasurer of the House Corporation for twenty-six years, announced that the first mortgage had been reduced to \$8,000.

Guests included Past National President Thomas J. Frailey, '17, National President Ralph B. Williams of Ohio State, National Vice Presirent Amos B. Horlacher of Wesleyan, National Secretary Wilbur M. Walden of Cornell, and our own William W. Edel, '15, President of Dickinson.

Meanwhile the Garnettes, wives and sweethearts, were dining at Allenberry Inn, and later attended a performance at the Allenberry summer theater.

Altoona Club Meets

The dinner meeting of the Dickinson Club of Altoona was held in the private dining room of the Y.W.C.A., Altoona, Pa., on May 12, 1955, with the president, Miss Jeanette Stevens, '10, presiding. Twenty-six were present at the meeting. The invocation was offered by the Rev. Herbert W. Glassco, '22.

At the brief business meeting following the dinner the nominating committee made its report and these officers of the club were elected: President, Jeanette Stevens, '10; vice-president, Raymond N. Hoffman, '30; second vice-president, Dorothy E. Harpster, '28; secretary George Henry Ketterer, '08, and treasurer, George K. Cox, '40.

The faculty was represented by Prof. E. A. Vuilleumier and Prof. Benjamin D. James. The trustees were represented by Judge John M. Klepser and Dr. George Henry Ketterer.

Dr. Vuilleumier was introduced by the president of the club. His brief address dealt mainly with the origins of the C. Scott Althouse Chair of Chemistry and the Priestly Awards in Chemistry, now a very important part of the program of the College, and with the progress of the Faculty Committee on Curriculum. The Latin which he quoted in this connection was very impressive.

Dr. James was the next speaker. He dealt with the new courses provided for freshmen, new buildings being erected or to be erected on the campus, the new program for athletics and the present status of applications for admission.

Phi Delta Theta To Mark 75th Anniversary

PENNSYLVANIA Epsilon Chapter of the Phi Delta Theta national fraternity was chartered on October 27, 1880, and is planning a gala 75th anniversary celebration in connection with Dickinson's Homecoming during the weekend of November 11 and 12.

All of the original founders of the chapter have passed into the Great Beyond. The seven founders were initiated into the fraternity early in 1880 by the Phi Delta chapter at Gettysburg which had been chartered five years earlier. These seven then petitioned the national fraternity for a charter at Dickinson, and their petition was approved that fall.

They immediately set up headquarters in a small rented room north of the College. A few years later the chapter hall was moved to the third floor of the then Post Office building on the north side of High Street just east of Pitt. In those days Friday night was fraternity meeting night on the Dickinson campus. Formal meetings were scheduled to start around 10:00 p.m. with informal smokers or talk-fests to follow.

In the early 1890's Phi Delta Theta had adopted as a national policy the ideal that all chapters should acquire their own fraternity houses. About this time the College trustees set aside the western edge of the campus to be developed as a "fraternity row."

The Phi Delts accepted the College's invitation and Pennsylvania Epsilon's first chapter house was erected on the campus at the corner of College and Louther Streets in the fall of 1899. Because of otherwise adequate dormitory facilities at the College, the house was constructed more on the order of a lodge building than of a fraternity house.

Like many another pioneer, however, Dickinson College's first chapter house to be owned by a fraternity fell into the shade of other and more adequate fraternity houses built around the campus in later years. Although the Phi Delt house was improved and the second floor turned into dormitory space, it was too small to provide sleeping quarters for more than eight of its members.

In the late 1920's the College made overtures to regain possession of the campus site on which the Phi Delt house was built so that it could be used for the continued expansion of the College. By this time the Phi Delts were also well aware of the need for more adequate quarters for the chapter, and actions were taken which terminated in the sale of the original chapter house to the College and the erection of a modern fraternity house at the corner of West and Dickinson Streets at the rear of Denny Hall and directly opposite the main college campus. The new house was opened in the fall of 1931, when the original chapter house was taken over by the College and made into the present Psychology Building.

The problems of financing the erection of a chapter house during a period of depression and of keeping it going during the period of World War II when reduced college enrollments made large houses white elephants were confidently faced by the chapter and its alumni. The loyalty of Dickinson Phi Delts to their fraternity as well as their college, and their confidence in the future of both. was proved by the manner in which they saw their chapter through those bleak days. An interesting recollection of the period is that, during the worst of the war years, the College sought to maintain enrollments by bringing in more coeds and for a time leased the Phi Delt house for use as a girl's dormitory. With the end of the war the chapter again grew to a normal size and in the fall of 1946 resumed use of its house.

This past summer approximately \$10,-000 was spent on the installation of new kitchen, dining room and bath facilities and in refurbishing the house. The formal dedication of these improvements will be held in connection with the forthcoming 75th anniversary of the chapter.

Presents Dickinson's Clock at Delaware Club Dinner

THE presentation of John Dickinson's clock to the Friends of the John Dickinson Mansion, the appearance of the Men's Glee Club and the presence of 95 guests, marked the annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of Delaware held in the DuBarry Room in the Hotel Du-Pont at Wilmington on May 10.

John Dickinson's clock, "which has kept good time since the Revolution" was turned over on indefinite loan by President William W. Edel to Mrs. William A. Worth, the first president and the present secretary of the Friends of the John Dickinson Mansion. Mrs. Worth is the daughter-in-law of the late Robert H. Richards, Esq., who for years was a distinguished Delaware lawyer and a trustee of the College.

The Friends of the John Dickinson Mansion came into existence a few years ago to effect the restoration of the Dickinson home near Dover, Del. That group raised \$25,000 to begin the project and were aided by an additional grant in that amount from the Delaware legislature. A few days after the first campaign opened the college made a \$100 contribution to the fund.

The college acquired the clock after the death of Miss Maria Dickinson Logan on February 12, 1939. She was the great-granddaughter of John Dickinson and died in Germantown, Pa., in her 82nd year. In her will she left the clock, a marble lion, his desk chair and a case of silver to the college.

The clock is the work of Thomas Wagstaff of London. The works are of brass and the case is a white wood covered with a black lacquer. The mantel clock will be among the first furnishings to be placed in the Dickinson Mansion when restoration is completed.

Leon deValinger, Jr., state archivest of Delaware, attended the dinner and reported on the progress of the restoration.

The Executive Committee of the Friends of the John Dickinson Mansion consists of seven elected members plus the Governor of Delaware and the President of Dickinson College.

Following the dinner, the Men's Glee Club rendered a half hour program before the presentation by President Edel. George Shuman, Jr., treasurer, also attended.

J. Ohrum Small, '15, retiring president, served as toastmaster. In the short business session Jack H. Caum, '34, was elected president and three vice presidents were named. They are Howard L. Williams, '40; Bernard Forcey, '20, and George T. Macklin, '11. Mrs. Leroy Corkran, the former Pauline Buck, '24, was elected secretary and Arthur W. Koffenberger, Jr., '48, treasurer.

Two Get Rotary Awards

Dickinson may be the only college having two of its graduates doing advanced study abroad this term as Rotary Foundation Fellows. Not long after the Rotary Foundation announced the awarding of a fellowship to Elizabeth A. Swaim, '54, Susan Marquardt, of last June's graduating class, received a similar award. Both are Phi Beta Kappas and as undergraduates were very active in campus affairs.

Miss Swaim received the degree of master of library science at the Carnegie Institute of Technology in June and in mid-summer sailed from New York with her former Dickinson roommate, Jeanette Leavitt, for a 30-day guided tour of Europe. At conclusion of the tour, Miss Swaim will enter the University of St. Andrews, in Scotland, for a year's study as a Rotary Fellow.

Miss Marquardt, of Briarcliff Manor, N. Y., was nominated for her Rotary award by a district comprising New York City, the populace West Chester County in that state and Bermuda, B. W. I. She will study at the University of Grenoble, in France. At Dickinson, she served on the debating team, the staffs of the Dickinsonian and Microcosm and was a member of Wheel and Chain, Tau Kappa Alpha and Pi Beta Phi and graduated magna cum laude after having been awarded the \$200 Hufstader Prize as the woman in the graduating class having made the greatest contribution to the College.

Men's Glee Club Sings At Washington Club Dinner

A fine program by the Men's Glee Club of the College and a banner attendance of 105 featured the annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of Washington held at the Chevy Chase Methodist Church on May 6. It was the first appearance of the glee club in the nation's capitol.

President William W. Edel, Dean Frederic W. Ness and Professor Edgar M. Finck, of the faculty, were the representatives of the College attending the dinner. They participated in a question and answer panel meeting.

H. Lynn Edwards, '36, '39L, who completed his two-year term as president of the club, served as toastmaster. Dr. Asbury Smith, '23, District Superintend-

Lands Damaged Plane

Another episode in the remarkable career of Col. Richard H. Ellis, '41, was added last May 21. While flying at an altitude of 8,000 in thunderstorms, a plane he piloted suffered a simultaneous failure of both engines and the windshield of the plane broke.

The plane, a G-47, was being piloted from Copenhagen, Denmark, to Paris, France. The mechanical failures developed while the plane was near Deftinge, Belgium.

Col. Ellis ordered his crew to bail out and crash landed the plane safely in a field near Deftinge. He was not injured. At the time of the crash he was assigned as chief of the Special Operations Section, Supreme Headquarters, Allied Powers in Europe at Marley, France.

During World War II, Col. Ellis receive world-wide acclaim for his feats in the Pacific Theater of operations. He had hundreds of combat missions. ent, offered the invocation and Dr. Dayton E. McClain, '06, vice-president of American University, pronounced the benediction.

Paul A. Mangan, '34, who was elected a member of the Alumni Council earlier this year, was elected president of the club. For the past five years he has been an industrial cost accountant with the Bureau of Ships, U. S. Navy.

Dr. Robert N. Coale, '39, physician of Betheseda and William J. Batrus, '38, '41L, attorney, were elected vice-prseidents. John Springer, '44, was reelected treasurer and Maude E. Wilson, '14, secretary, while Mrs. John Rowland, the former Louise Patterson, '27, was reelected assistant secretary.

Full Professor At Union

Dr. Frederick A. Klemm, '33, a teacher of German at Union College since 1947, was promoted to the rank of full professor in the department of modern languages in June. He has also served in recent years as director of Union's evening division program.

After graduating from Dickinson, Prof. Klemm spent a year at the University of Goettingen, Germany, as an International Student Exchange Fellow and returned to Europe in 1938 under a Jusserand Traveling Fellowship. Duke University awarded him the Master of Arts degree in 1935. He received his Ph.D. from Pennsylvania in 1939 and for a number of years was an instructor in German at that university.

Many articles by Prof. Klemm have appeared in the American-German Review, Modern Language Quarterly, German Quarterly, Monatshefte and other publications.

Advanced by American Cable Corporation

THE American Cable & Radio Corporation, suppliers of worldwide service by cable and radio-telegraph, announced in August the election of John A. Hartman, Jr., '32, to a vice-presidency of three of its affiliates, All America Cables & Radio, Inc., Commercial Cable Company and Mackay Radio & Telegraph Company.

Hartman, an attorney, entered the legal department of American Cable & Radio Corporation in 1946 and became an assistant vice-president of the three operating companies in 1952. AC&R is an affiliate of the International Telephone & Telegraph Corporation.

A native of Windber, Pa., Hartman entered Dickinson in 1928 from Mercersburg Academy and after his graduation in 1932 went on to study law at George Washington University which awarded him a degree in 1936. He has been admitted to practice before the U. S. District Court and Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia and the U. S. Supreme Court.

After two years as a law clerk in the Tax Departemnt of the U.S. Department of Justice, he went with the Federal Communications Commission in Washington as an attorney and served in this capacity until 1942 when he entered the Army Air Force as a first lieutenant. He rose to the rank of lieutenant colonel and saw service in the European, African, Middle Eastern and Pacific theatres. The Legion of Merit was awarded him for services of "inestimable importance" while commanding officer of the Army Air Forces Crystal Banks at Wright Field, Ohio. He left the service in 1946 and went with the American Cable & Radio Corporation as an attorney.

His father, John A. Hartman, was a member of the Dickinson School of Law class of 1896 and a prominent attorney in Windber, Pa., for 50 years. Father and son made the news in 1940 when they were admitted together to practice before



JOHN A. HARTMAN, JR.

the U. S. Supreme Court. The father died in 1948.

The younger Hartman is a member of Phi Kappa Sigma. He and his wife, the former Theo Campbell, of Pyriton, Ala., reside in Westfield, N. J. They recently returned from a 10-week tour of Europe.

Receives Award Of Merit

Dr. Howard E. Moses, '98, of Harrisburg, Pa., was the recipient of an Award of Merit presented by the Pennsylvania Public Health Association "for fifty years of distinguished service and outstanding contributions to the advancement of public health engineering in the commonwealth of Pennsylvania" at an annual health conference held at Pennsylvania State University in August. The award was made in recognition of his role as an engineer in public health work. Previously, the recipients mostly were members of the medical profession.

Dr. Moses is director of the Bureau of Sanitary Engineering of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and holds an honorary degree of Doctor of Science from the College.

Pfizer Elects Stuart Personnel Vice President

J. WILLIAM STUART, '32, specialist administration, has been elected as vice president, personnel, of Chas. Pfizer & Co., Inc., of Brooklyn, N. Y., it has been announced by the company's board of directors.

Mr. Stuart, director of industrial relations for the pharmaceutical and chemical manufacturing company, joined Pfizer in 1941. He was elected a member of Pfizer's board of directors in 1950. He went to Pfizer after eight years of service with Spencer Kellogg & Sons, Inc., Edgewater, N. J.

Pfizer's work force has grown from 700 to more than 8,500 people since he joined the company. Under his supervision the company's pension, hospitalization, insurance and other employee benefit programs have been expanded.

He is president of the New York Personnel Management Association and a past president of the Brooklyn Management Club. He belongs to the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce and is a member of the Industrial Relations Committee of the Industrial Relations Committee of the Commerce and Industry Association of New York. He is a trustee of the Incorporated Village of Munsey Park, Long Island, N. Y., where he and his family reside.

Born in Carlisle on December 3, 1910 he graduated from the Carlisle High School and from the College in 1932. He is a member of Phi Kappa Sigma Fraternity, the Presbyterian Church and a Life Member of the General Alumni Association.

He married his classmate, Helen D. Stover, in Englewood, N. J., in 1937. They have a 17 year old son, Robert Bruce, and a daughter, Helen Wynne, who is fifteen.

Receive Navy Commissions

Edward J. Hilbert, Jr., '53, of Hanover, Pa., and Peter J. Ressler, '54, of



J. WILLIAM STUART

Shamokin, Pa., received their ensign commissions in May when they graduated from the Navy's Officer Candidate School at Newport, R. I. They were members of the 20th class of Reserve Officers.

Lehigh Valley Club Meets

A fine dinner and an excellent meeting featured the annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of Lehigh Valley held at the Lehigh Valley Club, Allentown, Pa., on May 19 with 30 present.

Dean Frederic W. Ness and Treasurer George Shuman, Jr., were the College representatives and William A. Steckel, '42, retiring president of the club, served as master of ceremonies.

Jerome W. Burkepile, Jr., '40, '43L, lawyer of Northampton, Pa., was elected president. Mrs. R. H. Griesemer, the former Katherine Keller, '33, who had been secretary-treasurer, was elected vicepresident. Mrs. Walter L. Sandercock, the former Evelyn V. Learn, '29, of Pen Argyl, was chosen secretary-treasurer. These officers with Bill Steckel, James H. Bates, Jr., '48, and Frank W. Shelley, '50, form the executive committee.

EDITORIAL

"A Personal Word"

O FFICERS of alumni clubs, members of the Alumni Council and other alumni have received letters earlier this year critical of the officers of administration of the college. Others have heard these reports by word of mouth.

These facts led President William W. Edel in his annual report to the Board of Trustees at their annual meeting in June to include "A Personal Word." This read "Members of the Board are undoubtedly aware that the President of the College has been subjected to some very intense and bitter criticism by a small group of present and former members of the faculty. While most of this criticism has been of the whispering campaign type, some has been made public by an equally small group of alumni. I do not feel that it is necessary for me to make any detailed answer to this criticism, although I am ready, of course, to do so if members of the Board wish it. Instead, I will stand squarely on the cumulative record of the nine years of my administration and let the members of the Board decide whether or not I have been faithful to my trust."

This statement was the closing paragraph of President Edel's report to the Trustees. When it was read, the following resolution was presented by Robert E. Woodside.

- Whereas, there has come to the attention of the members of the Board of Trustees of Dickinson College certain criticism of the administration of the College, which if ignored by the Board, may continue to give concern to the alumni and to the faculty;
- Now, therefore, be it resolved that the Board of Trustees hereby express its complete confidence in the administration of the College.

On motion of Robert E. Woodside, seconded by Paul L. Hutchison the resolution was adopted by a standing vote followed by long applause.

College - Fraternity Relations

W HEN a Committee of the Board of Trustees on College-Fraternity Relations went to work after its appointment following the December 1954 meeting of the Board and while the Joint Commission on Fraternity Relations, consisting of Faculty appointees and the Fraternity Alumni Representatives, was in action, a tempest in a teapot was fomented when alumni heard conflicting and incomplete reports of what was going on.

The sororities did not become embroiled but stories spread that the officers of the College and the Trustees were about to abolish fraternities, wreck their financial structure and thus doom them to oblivion, or in other ways hamper their life and existence.

Many lost sight of the fact that the officers of the college are active in their own fraternities as are all members of the committee on Fraternities of the Board of Trustees. Robert E. Woodside is chairman of the Committee with Boyd Lee Spahr, a member Ex-officio. The others are F. LaMont Henninger, Lewis F. Gayner, Glenn E. Todd and Robert A. Waidner.

The committee prepared a report for the June meeting of the Board, which is to be amended and further revised and given to the fraternities at a later date in order that their student and alumni officials may consider the findings and recommendations of the committee. Two recommendations of the committee were adopted by the Trustees in June.

The first of these recommendations provided that "no new national social fraternities be permitted to organize or reactivate a chapter at Dickinson College, unless and until there is a substantial increase in the male student population."

The second recommendation provided that "the administration be authorized to require freshmen to eat in Morgan Hall for the first semester."

Touring Orient At Government Request

I F Winfield C. Cook, '32, internationally known businessman and president of Vita Craft Pennsylvania Sales, Inc., who is currently making a 30,000-mile tour of the Orient and Antipodes at the request of the U. S. Government, maintains his tight travel, he'll get back to this country just in time for the annual Homecoming meeting of the Alumni Council on Friday night, November 11. He is serving the second of a three-year term on the Council.

It will be a close call. Cook and his party set off September 20 on the sixweek tour and are scheduled to return November 10. "I'll be there for the meeting if at all possible," wrote he to the College before his departure. "I hate to miss meetings of the Council."

In the Orient, as was the case in his similar trips to Europe for the Government, he will meet the top business executives and governmental officials of every country he visits, sharing with them the know-how of the American business leader. After the first stop in Tokyo, he will go on to Manila, Singapore, Hong Kong, then down through Thailand, Australia, New Zealand and home.

Cook, master of the direct sale, who worked his way through Dickinson and since then has built companies founded on door-to-door salesmanship, should



WINFIELD C. COOK

have no trouble "selling" American business methods and good will on the current tour.

Not long before he sailed he was elected president of the National Association of Direct Selling Companies at its 41st annual convention in New York City and addressed 1,500 executives and their wives at the convention banquet. He is an officer in a number of direct sales and other companies, in addition to serving as president of Vita Craft Pennsylvania Sales, Inc.

PERSONALS

1886

The portrait of the late Judge E. M. Biddle, Jr., was hung in the Cumberland County Court House in July. Judge Biddle would not permit the portrait to be hung in the court room during his lifetime. A memorial service was held at the time of its unveiling.

1893

Mrs. Grace Kessler, the wife of George W. Kessler, died on May 4 after a lengthy illness at her home in Tyrone, Pa. In addition to her husband she is survived by two sons and a daughter. For 25 years she was president of the Foreign Missionary Society of the First Methodist Church in Tyrone.

1900

Mr. and Mrs. Malcolm B. Sterrett celebrated their 50th wedding anniversary on May 25 last at their home in Orlando, Fla. Since his graduation from the college and the Law School, Mr. Sterrett has practiced law for over 52 years. Mrs. Sterrett is the former Marie Louise Hepburn of Carlisle.

After 55 years in the ministry, the Rev. Dr. William L. Armstrong retired on June 1, 1954, when he moved to Hazleton, Pa. On April 11, 1955 his wife died and he has gone to live with his youngest daughter, Mrs. Clinton F. Waters in Laurel, Md., where his address is R. D. No. 1, Box 264.

Mrs. Hazel Dorey, the widow of J. Milner Dorey, was killed on September 8 when her automobile and a truck collided near Lewisburg, Pa. Police said Mrs. Dorey attempted to pass the truck which was making a left turn onto a dirt road. The car struck the truck broadside, both vehicles rolling over on their sides. Mrs. Dorey was 55 and a music teacher at Lycoming College, Williamsport.

1902

In 1954, Dr. Edward C. Kistler, of Blain, Pa., was awarded a plaque from the Medical Society of the State of Pennsylvania for 50 years of medical service. He graduated from the University of Vermont Medical School in 1904.

1903

Dr. Daniel P. Ray retired from his active practice at Johnstown, Pa., on August 31 and moved to California where his new address is 610 S. Kenmore Avenue, Apartment 210, Los Angeles 5, Calif.

210, Los Angeles 5, Calit. Mrs. Georgia Harrison Johnson, wife of Dr. Lioyd W. Johnson, 104 Hatfield St., Caldwell, N. J., died on June 6 after a long illness. A graduate of Wellsley College, she taught before her marriage at St. Mary's Hall, Burlington, N. J., the Monclair Academy and at Adelphia Academy. She was Ruling Elder, First Presbyterian Church, Caldwell, N. J. A poem written by her entitled "My Church" was read at her funeral. In addition to her husband, she is survived by a daughter, Mrs. George P. Conrad and three grandchildren of Bethlehem, Pa. She was a frequent visitor with her husband to the campus and alumni club dinners.

1906

After serving as supervising principal of public schools from 1906 to 1927, John L. Humbert has owned and operated the Electric Display Products Co. of Hillsdale, N. J. His concern makes advertising displays for banks and savings and loan associations.

1909

William F. Housman, attorney and borough solicitor of Steelton, Pa., is the president of the Steelton Bank and Trust Co.

1910

Mrs. Theodore K. Leininger, the former Magdalene, Leinbach, of Pottsville, Pa., is serving as vice president of the Lehigh Presbyterial. She was secretary of Foreign Missions from 1952 to 1954 and in 1953-55 was president of the Schuylkill Shakespeare Society, the oldest federated club in Pennsylvania. She is also a member of the Mary Dickinson Club in addition to her activities in many community affairs.

After teaching school for 20 years, Ira S. Huber suffered a back injury in a fall from a tree in 1930 and then entered the insurance business part-time. He is now engaged in the insurance business in Millersville, Pa., under the firm name of Ira S. Huber and Son.

Mrs. Esther M. Kelbaugh, the wife of C. H. Kelbaugh of 2624 S Kingshighway Blvd., St. Louis, Mo., was taken to St. Luke's Hospital there March 8 where she underwent surgery twice for cancer. After several months illness she died at her home on July 20. Besides her husband she is survived by a daughter who lives in Syracuse, N. Y.

1911

Martin VanBlarcom, attorney of New York City, has been serving as a member of the Board of Directors of the West Side Federal Savings and Loan Association of New York City since 1935. He and his wife, the former Beula O'Hara, live at Croton-on-Hudson, N. Y., and she is a member of the woman's auxiliary of Phelps Memorial Hospital in Tarrytown, also the Ossining Women's Club and the Yorktown Garden Club.

Last June 30, after 35 years of service in the Department of Mathematics and Mechanics of the U. S. Naval Postgraduate School, Dr. Charles H. Rawlins, Jr., was retired with the title Professor Emeritus. Aftre serving for years at the United States Naval Academy at Annapolis he has in the more recent years been on the faculty of the school at Monterey, Calif.

1912

George L. Gordon resigned in July 1954 after 41 years continuous service with the Lukens Steel Co., Coatesville.

Edna M. L. Handwork, teacher in Birdsboro, Pa., is vice president of the Historical Society of Berks County and a member of its Board of Directors. She is also a member of the Board of Directors of the Boys' Home of Berks County.

1913

Howell K. Smith is a chemist with the Minnesota Mining and Manufacturing Co., St. Paul, Minn. His home is in White Bear Lake, Minn. He married the former Synneva Hofland and they have two sons and a daughter.

Cecil W. Peeples retired on August 31 after more than 35 years as a traffic manager with the Great Atlantic and Pacific Tea Co. His home is in Bel Air, Md. His wife is the former Mabel S. Barton and they have two sons and a daughter. He has served as president of a men's Bible class in the Presbyterian Church and also in the Methodist Church and has been active in Church and Sunday School work all his life. He is a past president of the Traffic Club of Baltimore and also the Maryland Motor Truck Association, and has been a member of the Executive Board of the Baltimore Area Council of the Boy Scouts of America. He is a Rotarian and a member of Kappa Sigma fraternity.

1914

Francis G. Wilson, who has been principal of the William Penn High School, Harrisburg, Pa., since 1949, is secretarytreasurer of the Pennsylvania Branch, National Association of Secondary School Principals. He is also on the advisory board of the Polyclinic Hospital in Harrisburg.

Mrs. Flora Sheaffer Dietz, mother of George C. Dietz of Mechanicsburg, died July 31 at the age of 91 years. She is survived by another son, J. Wilbur Dietz, also of Mechanicsburg, 7 grandchildren and 7 great-grandchildren.

1915

Hyman Goldstein, lawyer of Carlisle, has been appointed to the Board of Athletic Control of the college. He succeeds the late Judge E. M. Biddle, Jr., '86, as a member of the Board.

Mrs. Phyllis Mason Heck was married to Mr. Stanley Bowman on July 16 in Grace Methodist Church, Wilmington, Del. On their return from a trip to Spain and other parts of Europe, the couple will be at home at 120 Burnside Drive, Hastings-on-Hudson, N. Y.

Robert H. Maxwell, who lives in Camp Hill, Pa., is purchasing agent for the Wilcox Forging Corp. of Mechanicsburg, Pa.

Leonard G. Hagner and Miss Wilhelmina Syfrit were married by Canon Glen B. Walter in the St. Mary Chapel in the Cathedral Church of St. John, Wilmington, Del., on September 3. After a trip to Montreal, Canada, the couple will make their home at 20 Thomas Drive, Monroe Park Apts., Wilmington.

1916

The Rev. Clark L. VanAuken is pastor of Park Avenue Methodist Church in East Orange, N. J.

Margaret A. Craig is teaching cooking and nutrition at the Groswenor Neighborhood House in New York City. She is also a Board Member of the Old People's Home sponsored by the Daughters of the British Empire called Victoria Home in Ossining, N. Y.

Since 1935, Reynolds C. Massey has been attorney for the Prudential Insurance Company on real estate investments in New York City.

1917

Max Hartzell, of Minneapolis, Minn., attended the triennial meeting of the National Council of Phi Beta Kappa, August 31September 3, on the University of Minnesota campus as a delegate of Dickinson's Pennsylvania Alpha chapter.

1918

Mr. and Mrs. David Weidenhafer, of Newton, N. J., flew to London on August 4 and plan to visit Scotland, the Scandanavian countries and the continent. They plan to return about November 1. Mr. Weidenhafer is president of the Newton Board of Education.

1919

John C. Lingle has been associated with the Educators Mutual Insurance Co. for 18 years. He is secretary of the company and a member of the board of directors. Judge Mark E. Garber is recuperating

Judge Mark E. Garber is recuperating from wounds received when he was shot in the left arm while he was presiding in the trial of a non-support case in the Cumberland County Court House, Carlisle, Pa., on August 2. His assailant, who has been indicted for the fatal shooting of John D. Faller, Jr., '40L, also shot his wife and another attorney, George Black, of Chambersburg. The bullet pierced Judge Garber's arm, shattering the bone above the elbow and it is still in a cast.

1920

William J. McIntyre has been engaged in the real estate and insurance business ever since his return from World War I in 1919 at Warren, Pa.

Rev. Ralph L. Minker has been elected a member of the newly formed Board of Directors of War, Dreshman and Reinhart, Fund Raising Firm of New York City. He has been associated with that firm for several years and has an outstanding record.

Howard G. Hopson is the owner of the Hopson Advertising Agency in Philadelphia.

1921

Mrs. Charles D. Foster, Jr., the former Mildred Harvey, has just completed a term as president and is a trustee of the Woman's Club of Pitman, N. J. She is serving as Program Assistance Chairman of the 1st District of the Woman's Club and is community health chairman for Gloucester County Auxiliary to the Medical Association.

Walter C. Lippert is supervising principal of the Lackawanna Trail Jointure Schools of Pennsylvania. For 29 years he held a similar position as principal of the Dalton Borough schools of Lackawaana County.

1922

Dr. Carleton B. Spotts, of the faculty of Slippery Rock State Teachers College, is the author of several college text books, the latest being Fundamentals of Present Day English.

Mary Noaker is a teacher of Social Studies at the Wildwood, N. J. High School since 1925. She has served three terms as the representative to the Delagate Assembly of the New Jersey Educational Association.

1923

Since leaving college, Donad D. Sample has been working as a funeral director in Sharon, Pa. He is secretary and treasurer of the Western Pennsylvania Funeral Directors Association and for the past six years has been treasurer of Sharon Lodge No. 250 F & A M, of which he is a Past Master.

Dr. William C. Shultz, Jr., has been chief of the anesthesia staff at the Waynesboro, Pa., Hospital since 1933.

Mary E. Frankenberry has been teaching in the Lewistown, Pa., High School since her graduation from college.

1925

Edgar H. Hamilton is now the ceramic engineer and project leader in charge of development of new glasses and production of optical glass at the National Bureau of Standards. Since 1940 he has been engaged in the development of new optical glasses, including rare earth glasses.

Edgar F. Updegraff, the father of Russell D. Updegraff, a retired grocer, died in the Harrisburg Hosptal on July 16 after a brief illness. His home was in New Cumberland, Pa.

Elizabeth McCrea is a teacher in the Haddonfield, N. J., High School.

1926

George A. Groff has been Claim Manager since 1924 in the Travelers Insurance Co. offices in Western New York.

Since 1947, Clare R. Liggett has been serving as an editor for the American Book Co. in their New York City office.

Also since leaving college Horace B. Mitchell has been manager of the Boys' Division of the Jacob Reed's Sons, Philadelphia, Pa., men's and boys' retail stores.

John H. Moyer has been teaching in the Ephrata High School, Ephrata, Pa., since 1928.

Harry Winfield is working as a legal secretary in the Executive Department of New York state with offices in New York City. Evelyn L. Naylor spent part of the summer in Europe as a state delegate to the Y. M. C. A. World Centennial Conference held in Paris in August. Since 1928 she has been a teacher of languages and speech at the Slatington High School, Pa. She is a member of the state Y. M. C. A. Service Committee and is secretary of the Lehigh County branch of the Pennsylvania State Education Association and also secretary of General Speech Division of the Pennsylvania Spech Association. She is state chairman of Selective Recruitment and Retirement Problems for Delta Kappa Gamma.

1927

Mr. and Mrs. John L. Rowland, of Washington, D. C., announced the marriage of their daughter, Milicent Patterson, to Roy L. Knight, II. Mr. Knight attended the University of Virginia and is now with the U. S. Army Signal Corps in Germany, where Mrs. Knight plans to join him.

Edmund J. Canzona is a member of the law firm of Parsons, Labrecque, Canzona & Combs in Red Banks, N. J. He has been a member of the Red Bank Board of Education since 1940.

Since his discharge from the service as a Captain of Ordnance, William O. Bruehl has been instructor in Vocational Education and working as a mechanical engineer at the Lynn Trade School, Lynn, Mass.

1928

The Rev. Lee J. Gable, D.D., Professor of Christian Education at the Lancaster Theological Seminary of the Reformed Church, is the author of Christian Nurture Through the Church, published by the National Council of Church early this year.

Herman C. Phillips is assistant sales manager of the export department of the Hercules Powder Co. in Wilmington, Del.

William R. Smith, lawyer of Salem, N. J., has been City Solicitor since 1941 and vice president of the County Health Association since 1945.

Rev. David R. Morgan is pastor of the Parrish Methodist Church in Wilkes-Barre, Pa. He is also president of the Wilkes-Barre District Methodist Ministers Association and secretary of Missions and chairman of the Youth Department of the Wyoming Valley Council of Churches. After 10 years as a member of the New Jersey Conference, he entered the Wyoming Conference in 1939.

1929

Jesse B. Rubright, who became a Life Member in June, is assistant combustion engineer at the Buffalo plant of the Republic Steel Corp. He married the former Emma A. Fisher, Reading, who is a graduate of Penn State. They have three daughters. Alice is a junior at Buffalo State Teachers College, Ruth a senior at the high school in Buffalo and Carol is a grade school student.

In the Directory of Living Alumni, which was published in July, the address of Edmund S. Snyder was incorrectly listed as Philadelphia. He is librarian at The Cranbrook School, Bloomfield Hills, Mich. Warren L. Templin has been teacher of

Warren L. Templin has been teacher of English at the Nyack High School, Nyack, N. Y., since 1931. He was principal of the summer school and is also a director of Adult Education.

Nathan Asbell, M.D., has been appointed to the Medical Advisory Committee of the Camden County Chapter of the Multiple Sclerosis Society.

The 25th Reunion

By ALICE E. HACKMAN

The Class of '30 held its twenty-fifth reunion over the Dickinson College Alumni week-end of June 11 and 12. The highlight of the Alumni Luncheon, at least for the Class of '30, was the presentation of the class gift, the largest single contribution of a reunioning class, the sum of \$3,000 to be used as a scholarship fund. This was presented by the Rev. Dr. E. F. Hallock, president of the Class of '30.

Saturday evening a banquet was held in the Stock Memorial Hall, at which 61 members and guests were present. Following the banquet and the taking of the class picture, a program was presented with President Hallock in charge. During a brief business meeting minutes were read by the secretary and the treasurer's report given by J. Edward Nolen. Members of the class discussed future class gifts, with the majority in favor of augmenting the scholarship fund.

Class members, who were then called upon, spoke briefly of their post-college activities and following this, letters and cards from absent members were read by Harold Weigel.

The two honored guests of the class,

Dr. Wing and Dr. Vuilleumier, delighted everyone with their witty and reminiscent talks. Additional humor was added by the presentation of amusing "awards" to members who excelled in one field or another—for example, having the most grandchildren or the least hair! This concluded the 25th reunion of the Class of '30.

The following members attended one or more of the reunion events: Lewis F. Adler, Esq.; Geo. W. Atkins, Esq.; Dr. Jos. P. Atkins, John E. Biddle, C. Lincoln Brown, Dr. Tobias H. Dunkelberger, Elsie Ferris Shuman, Elinor Green Spencer, Dorothy Gress Dougherty, Evelyn Greevy Finster, Alice E. Hackman, Rev. Dr. Everett F. Hallock, Raymond Hartshorn, Walter D. Heckman, Dr. Edward Hoberman, Miriam Horst Middleton, Eleanor James Schneider, William L. Johns, Alfred O. Keedy, John F. Kelso, Dr. Edward S. Kronenberg, Jr., Evelyn Kinter Herritt, Harold A. Kline, Robert E. Knupp, Esq., Katharine Morris Hoy, James K. Nevling, Esq., A. Caroline Noolen, J. Edward Nolen, Vincent S. W. Paczkoskie, Catherine Porter Hallock, Frances Robinson Klinger, Dr. Lewis H. Rohrbaugh, Gilbert F. Schappert, William B. Sharp, Rev. Robert F. Sheaffer, Ralph A. Sheetz, Cornelius L. Scholl, William C. Schultz, Jr., Esq., C. Melvin Shields, Russell S. Stine, Esq., Elizabeth Tipton, Dr. Harold W. Weigel, Clarence A. Welliver, Rev. Willis W. Willard, Jr., Samuel W. Witwer, Jr., Esq., and Prudence Shultzabarger Wolfe.

1930

The Chicago newspapers carried commendatory editorials in July, when Samuel W. Witwer resigned as Chairman of the Illinois Commission for Constitutional Revision after a decade of successful efforts for the modernization of the state's basical law. He resigned to devote more time to his own business and other civic undertakings.

John F. Kelso has been senior tax analyst

of the Wilmington Trust Company, Wilmington, Del., since 1942. Prior to that he taught school. He is also treasurer of the Peninsula Annual Conference of the Methodist Church.

Walter W. Collins is engaged in general insurance work and is the owner of the Collins Insurance Agency in Bethlehem, Pa. He married the former Mary Beiger, a graduate of Louisiana State University in 1948. During the war he served as a Lt. Cmdr. with the U. S. Coast Guard.

Walter Gabell, Jr., of Philadelphia, is president of the Board of the Stevens School, a private school for girls located at Chestnut Hill. He has been a real estate broker since 1931 in Philadelphia.

Royce V. Haines has been an associate of Charles F. Andrews and Associates, general insurance agency in Trenton, N. J., since 1941.

1931

John C. Arndt, 3rd, is manager of sales engineering for the Simonds Abrasive Co. and lives at Abington, Pa.

1932

Robert Lee Jacobs, of Carlisle, was reelected chancellor of the Episcopal Diocese of Harrisburg at the annual convention held in York in May. In this office, he advises the Bishop and governing bodies of the Diocese on legal matters. The Diocese covers 24 counties in central Pennsylvania. In the May primaries he was unopposed for the Democratic nomination of Judge of Cumberland County and in the November elections will be opposed by the Republican candidate, Judge Mark E. Garber, '19.

Randolph T. Jacobsen, who has been principal of the Somerville, N. J., High School since 1943, received the degree of Doctor of Education at the Commencement of Rutgers University in June. He took his Master of Education degree there in 1937. He is married to the former Lois Griggs and they have a daughter, Barbara Ann, now 14 years of age, and a son, Thomas R., age 9.

The New York newspapers carried the photograph of Winfield C. Cook on June 8 when it was announced that he had been elected president of the National Association of Direct Selling Companies. He is president of Vita Craft Pennsylvania Sales Corp. and lives at Ambler, Pa. A Life Member of the General Alumni Association, he is a member of the Alumni Council.

1933

The Rev. John H. Barnes, Jr., is pastor of Lehman Memorial Methodist Church, Hatboro, Pa. In 1949 he was the representative of the Philadelphia Conference and visited Methodist Mission Stations in the Belgian Congo and Liberia. He received his B.D. degree from Temple University in 1938 and has done graduate work there. His wife is the former Mildred Cramer and they have two daughters, Elsie Gossler Barnes and Mildred Barnes.

Dr. Frederick A. Klemm has been a professor at Union College, Schenectady, N. Y., since 1947. He is currently a member of the Carnegie Foundation Committee of Educational Inquiry. He married the former Eleanor Gansloser and they have a daughter and three sons.

1934

John B. Fowler, Jr., of Carlisle, was elected to the Board of Directors of the Hupp Corp. in May. He is also president of the Standard Electronics Division of Hupp and was named vice-president of the Hupp Corp.

William R. Mark was elected president of the Kiwanis Club of Shippensburg, Pa., in June. An attorney, he ran unsuccessfully for the Republican nomination for judge of Cumberland County last May. He has served the county as district attorney.

1935

Many things have been happening to Mary James Giffen in recent months. Her mother, Mrs. Mary James, died in Knoxville, Tenn., on June 7 after she had lived with her daughter and son-in-law for two years. Mary's husband left the United States in August on loan to the State Department from TVA for work in personnel administration in Iran and his office is in Teheran. Mary is teaching first grade in the Knoxville schools. She has two children, Polly, 10, and Junny, 12.

Dr. Thelma Smith Minor and her husband, Dr. Ward Minor, left in August for a year in Finland, where Dr. Ward Minor will lecture on American civilization at the University of Turku under a Fulbright award.

1936

C. Richard Stover was elected a vice president of the Carlisle Deposit Bank and Trust Company in August. He has been associated with the bank since 1946, as personal loan manager. Sidney W. Bookbinder, whose offices were formerly located at 1 East Broad St., Burlington, N. J., has announced the removal of his law offices to 513 High St., Burlington.

Dr. Milton B. Asbell has been elected President of the Southern Dental Society of New Jersey, which is a component of the New Jersey State Dental Society comprising the six lower counties of New Jersey. His practice is limited to orthodontics and his office is at 632 Federal St., Camden, N. J.

1938

Earle Stouffer is in the order section of the Kinetic Division of the duPont Company. He lives at Bellefonte, Del., and has three sons.

William J. Batrus has moved his law office to a new building in Washington, D. C.—the Perpetual Building at 1111 E Street, N. W., and he has Suite 606. His phone number is Sterling 3-1741.

1939

Dr. and Mrs. Robert N. Coale, of Bethesda, Md., announced the birth of their third son, John Horn, on May 2. Since 1948, Dr. Coale has been an associate in medicine at the University Hospital, Washington, D. C. He is also a clinical instructor of medicine at George Washington University Medical School. Mrs. Coale is the former Mary Horn.

Robert A. Craig, Jr., Carlisle manufacturer, was elected president in August of the Carlisle Area Joint School Authority which is erecting a \$2,000,000 high school building for Carlisle and other districts in the iointure.

Robert Royer became public relations director of the newly organized Tri-County United Fund on September 7 in Harrisburg. Pa. In his new capacity, he is in charge of all of the promotional and public information activities of the fund which operates in behalf of a large number of charities in a populace three-county area in Central Pennsylvania. He was formerly the public relations director of the Pennsylvania Society for Crippled Children.

Mr. and Mrs. John Gruenberg, 2nd, of 34 E. Levering Mill Rd., Bala-Cynwyd, Pa., announced the birth of their third daughter, Susan Lynn, on May 15 at Pennsylvania Lying-In Hospital, Philadelphia. Their other two daughters are Ellen, 31/2, and Nancy,

11/2. Dr. and Mrs. Ewart M. Baldwin, of Tarzana, Calif., announced the birth of a Debarek App. on January 4, 1955. They have another daughter, Barbara Ann, who is 31/2 years old. Dr. Baldwin is now manager of the Product Engineering Dept. and section head of the Product Development of the Semiconductor Division, Hughes Aircraft Co., Culver City, Calif.

The Rev. Lewis C. Learning, Jr., became pastor of the First Methodist Church of Pottstown, Pa., in June. His former pastorate was at Darby, Pa. A graduate of the Boston University School of Theology in 1942, he has served at Mauch Chunk, Girardville and Friendship, where he built an educational plant before going to Darby. His wife is the former Elizabeth Ann Dunkerly, '41. They have a son, Robert Cresse, born December 14, 1943, and a daughter, Betty Lou, born February 15, 1950.

Harvey W. Mather, Jr., is in production planning with S. K. F. Industries, Inc., in Altoona, Pa.

1941

Robert R. Owens was awarded the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the Commencement exercises of the University of Minne-sota on June 11. He received his M.A. there in 1948 and last year served as assistant director of freshman English. He married the former Mary Jane Kuhns. They have two sons, Christopher, born January 7, 1947, and Jonathan, born July 7, 1951, and a daughter Sarah Tenby, born March 21, 1954.

Lt. Col. Marshall Jackson is now stationed at the William Beaumont Army Hospital, El Paso, Tex.

1942

Dr. and Mrs. George L. Rubright, Wernersville, Pa., announced the birth of a son, Todd Burchill, on February 13, 1955. The Rubrights have three other children, Leigh, Stephen and Ann. Dr. Rubright is practicing medicine in Reading. Mrs. Rubright is the former Ruth Bryant.

Richard E. Derr is technical sales director of the Snyder Chemical Corp., manufacturers of phenolic resins, at Bethel, Conn. His home is in Brookfield.

Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Allen Lowe, of Glens Falls, N. Y., announced the engage-ment of their daughter, Kathleen Allen Lowe, to Rev. Russell D. Smith. Miss Lowe graduated from the University of Vermont in 1954 and has been a member of the staff

of the Crandall Library in Glens Falls. The Rev. Smith is priest-in-charge of St. Gabriel's Episcopal Church, East Berlin, Conn. He graduated from the Nashotah House Episocpal Graduate Seminary in Wisconsin. The wedding is planned for the coming autumn.

Dr. Albert E. Scheflen, Jr., has gone from the University of Pennsylvania faculty to be assistant professor of Psychiatry at Temple University School of Medicine and he has also started his own practice in that field.

John E. Kennedy has moved from Mt. Holly Springs to 113 E. Maplewood Ave., Mechanicsburg, Pa.

Dr. Albert E. Scheflen, specialist in psychiatry, is in charge of the Temple Hospital inpatient service and research program in psychiatry. He is also a lecturer in the University of Pennsylvania School of Nursing and a consultant in the Veterans Psychiatric Training Program. He is active in teaching psychiatric principles to lay groups.

1943

Mr. and Mrs. Robert E. Weaver, of 8 E. High St., Bound Brook, N. J., announced the birth of a daughter, Mary Page, on December 5, 1954. Bob is a laboratory supervisor for American Cynamid Co.,

Bound Brook. Work has been completed on a new educational wing of the First Methodist Church, Oakhurst, N. J., costing \$105,000. The Rev. Champion B. Goldy is pastor of the church.

Winfield A. Peterson, Jr., has been transferred to Providence, R. I., as manager of the New England Telephone and Telegraph Co. He and his family now live at

28 Greenfield Ave., North Providence, R. I. Since last March Ab Bagenstose has been assistant merchandise manager in the Asbestos Department of the Philip Carey Manufacturing Co. in Cincinnati, O.

Mr. and Mrs. Horace L. Jacobs, III, of 38 Woodward Ave., Ashville, N. C., announced the birth of a son Philip Townsend, on July 29. Mrs. Jacobs is the former Elizabeth Townsend, '42. Philip has an older brother, Lincoln, who is 7 and an older sister, Gayley, who is 5.

1944

The Rev. William A. Sharp, who had been pastor for four years at the Methodist Church in Upland, Pa., was transferred to the Sarah D. Cooper Memorial Methodist Church in Philadelphia at the annual conference in May.

Mr. and Mrs. Robert H. Cassel, of Norristown, Pa., announced the birth of a daughter, Martha Anne, on June 2. Bob is completing work for his Ph.D. degree in psychology at Northwestern University, Evanston, Ill.

1945

Zane G. Kaufman has accepted a position teaching chemistry at York Junior College, York, Pa., beginning September 21.

1946

The Rev. Robert S. Wagner was transferred from the Duboistown Methodist Parish to the Lakemont Methodist Church in Altoona, Pa., in June.

Dorothy R. Leeper was married to Don Garrett Townsend in the Zion Lutheran Church, York, Pa., on June 19. The soloist at the wedding was Martha Ann Wentzel, '46, and a number of Dickinsonians were among the 200 guests. Her husband is a graduate of the University of Illinois, and is employed as a metallurgist by Delco-Remy Division, General Motors Corp., Anderson, Ind. The couple now reside at 721 Louise Street, Anderson, Ind.

1947

Dr. R. Dean Coddington is specializing in the practice of Pediatrics in Red Bank, N. J. He is also an assistant instructor in Pediatrics at Temple University Medical School.

Col. and Mrs. R. P. McClure, of Knoxville, Tenn., announced the birth of a son, David Rittenhouse, on October 13, 1954.

Joseph Asbell, who graduated from the law school in 1951, was recently appointed Assistant City Solicitor for the City of Camden, N. J.

1948

Dr. and Mrs. L. Holland Taylor, Jr., of Rochester, N. Y., announced the birth of a son, James Hazelwood, their third child, on June 16. Mrs. Taylor is the former Constance Hazelwood, '51. In July, Holland began a year's service at the V. A. Hospital in Batavia, while he is training for his specialty in internal medicine.

Donald A. Cosby is now credit manager of the Sherwin Williams Paint Co. in Long Beach, Calif.

Mr. and Mrs. Davis A. Duncan, of 1150 Washington St., Denver, Col., announced the birth of a daughter, Elaine Mary, on May 2. Mrs. Duncan is the former Shirley Ann English.

Mr. and Mrs. Edgar Owens have announced the birth of a son, Anthony Reiley, in Paris, France, on July 2. Their address is N.A.T.O., Secretariat, Palais de Chaillot, Paris 16, France.

Mrs. Richard L. Smythe, the former Regina Vath, has moved from Massachusetts to 1860 Northwest Blvd., Apt. E, Columbus 12, O.

Dr. Frederick S. Wilson, who spent a year as resident physician at the Carlisle Hospital, began his private medical practice in Carlisle on July 1.

1949

Since June 1952, Mary Louise Rogers has been at the University of Pennsylvania on a cancer research project. She is working on the chemotherapeutic approach to the problem. Prior to that she was in the pathology department at Jefferson Medical College.

In August, Donald Harvey Foster, M.D., joined the staff of Elmer Community Hospital, Elmer, N. J., and opened his office at the hospital. Don is engaged in general practice and obstetrics. His wife is the former Joan Price, '51. Their home address is 155 West Jersey Ave., Pitman, N. J. Stephen Padjen whose football teams at

Stephen Padjen whose football teams at the Hanover, Pa., Junior High School never lost a game, became head coach of the Hanover Senior High School this month. He was also appointed track coach.

Dr. and Mrs. Theodore Rodman, of 263 Harvey St., Philadelphia 44, Pa., announced the arrival of a son, David Malcolm, on May 12 last.

Daniel L. Winters, who graduated from the Law School in 1952, is a member of the partnership formed for the general practice of law under the firm name of Brenlove, Fisher, Stein & Winters, with offices in the Frick Building, Pittsburgh, Pa. Announcement was made of the new firm last May.

The Rev. S. William Hollingsworth, who had been pastor of the Bendersville charge for 3 years, became pastor of the Shippensburg Methodist Church on June 1. His wife is the former Erma Raudabaugh. They have one son, Kenneth, five years old.

Sally Drake was married on June 27, 1955 to Robert Strong. The couple is living in Plandome Manor, N. Y.

Dr. George R. Hewlett was married to Miss Vivienne K. Frew, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Frew, of Harrisburg, at the Zion Lutheran Church, Harrisburg, on May 7. Mrs. Hewlett is a graduate of the Harrisburg Hospital School of Nursing. Dr. Hewlett graduated from Temple University School of Medicine in 1953. The couple now reside at Chevy Chase, Md.

Mr. and Mrs. William R. S. Kennedy, Allentown, Pa., announced the engagement of their daughter, Anne Louise, to Leon L. Wingert, Allentown. Lee is in the realty business in Allentown. Miss Kennedy is a graduate of Moravian College for Women.

Mr. and Mrs. Earl H. Biel, Jr., of 787 Ceres Street, Villa Dos Pinos, Rio Piedras, Puerto Rico, announced the birth of a son, Steven Bly, on July 29. Mrs. Biel is the former Joan Clapp, '48.

Dr. and Mrs. William W. Betts, Jr., have moved from Athens, O., to 115 S. Third St., Indiana, Pa. Bill will teach English at the State Teachers College there. Mrs. Betts is the former Jane Jackson.

Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence Brown have moved to 1013 Vermont Ave., Alvern Gardens, Pittsburgh 34, Pa. Mrs. Brown is the former Isabelle Bradby. They have three boys, Bradby Lawrence, age 5½; Jeffrey Michael, age 4 and Kevin Matthew, age 9 months. Larry is sales representative for John H. Breck, Inc., in Pennsylvania and West Virginia.

1950

Mr. and Mrs. Leonard S. Homa, of 2113 Key Boulevard, Arlington, Va., announced the birth of a daughter, Joan Marie, on April 30.

Last May, James L. Bruggeman announced his association with Clarence B. Nixon, Jr., '46, in the general practice of law with offices in Suite 1311 Frick Bldg., Pittsburgh 19, Pa.

The Rev. Eugene R. Steiner, who was pastor of the Methodist Church at Mt. Holly Springs, Pa., was assigned to the charge at Bendersville, Pa., last May.

Robert M. Frey, '53L, joined Merrill F. Hummel, Carlisle, Pa., in the practice of law in June, following his discharge from service with the Counter Intelligence Corps of the Army.

Mr. and Mrs. John P. Simon from Cranford, N. J., to East Derry, N. H. Mrs. Simon is the former Dorothy I. Buttolph.

Following his discharge from the service, Donald Reeder matried the former Ada Roach, of Monaca, Pa. They now live at 1923-38th St., N. W., Canton, O., where "Pete" is industrial sales representative for the Volvoline Oil Co.

Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Flandreau have announced the birth of their second daughter, Meredith Ellen, on June 18. Mrs. Flandreau is the former Janet Elder. Mr. Flandreau, formerly Assistant Research Librarian at Darthmouth College, is now Reference Librarian at Dickinson. Their new address is 42 South West Street, Carlisle.

During the summer vacation, Victoria K. Hann, Dean of Women of the College, made a cruise through the Caribbean. D. Donald Reader, Jr., is an industrial sales representative and is living at 1923-38th St., Canton, O. On November 21, 1951 he married the former Elda Roach at Monaca, Pa.

Mr. and Mrs. Paul Houck, of 124 South 3rd St., Bangor, Pa., have announced the birth of a daughter, Nan Elizabeth, on July 29.

Lt. (j.g.) Aldo J. DaRodda, USN, is touring Western Pacific countries as aide and flag lieutenant to Vice Admiral Stuart H. Ingersoll, new commander of the Seventh Fleet, stationed in the Formosa Straits. A jet pilot, Aldo has flown with Fighter Squadrons 21 and 103 and has taken part in extended cruises to the Mediterranean and Caribbean on board the carriers Midway, Hornet and Coral Sea. He entered the service after his graduation from College, was commissioned an ensign in 1952 and wears the gold wings of a naval aviator.

John D. Howells received his MS. degree in Bacteriology from Pennsylvania State University in June and will continue graduate work there for his Ph.D. He has been awarded a graduate teaching assistantship.

1951

Glen W. Kindle, who graduated from the University of Pennsylvania Law School in 1954, was admitted to the New Jersey bar last April and now has offices in Clayton and Woodbury, N. J.

Elton F. Carlson, who graduated from the Law School in 1954, was admitted to the McKean County Bar on May 24, 1955 and now has his office at Turtlepoint, Pa.

Mrs. Jane M. Alexander, of Dillsburg, was admitted to the practice of law before the York County, Pa., Courts in May. She is the third woman to become a member of the York County Bar Association in its history. She graduated from the Dickinson School of Law in 1954.

The Rev. John W. Stamm received the degree of Master of Sacred Theology at the Commencement exercises at Drew University on June 6.

Mr. and Mrs. Rowland R. Lehman, Jr., have purchased a new home at 309 Plaza Road, North, Radburn, N. J. Rowland is a student at the School of Business Administration at Fairleigh-Dickinson College. His wife is the former Carol H. Kranke.

Mr. and Mrs. William H. Denlinger, of 307 White Horse Pike, Haddon Heights, N. J., announced the birth of their first child, William Herbert, Jr., on July 15. Bill was discharged from the U. S. Air Force on June 13 and moved back to Haddon Heights from Waterloo, N. Y. He attended the summer session of the University of Pennsylvania, taking a course in Quantitative Analysis.

Mr. and Mrs. J. Jerome Cohen, of 2403 N. Second St., Harrisburg, Pa., have announced the birth of a son, Jacob Howard, on June 23. Mrs. Cohen is the former Lila Fisher. They have another son, Stephen Mark, 3 years old.

Nancy Stuart was married to Robert R. Neill on February 28, 1953 at Columbus, O., when she resigned as a secretary at Ohio State University. They now live in Ottawa, O., and they have a son, James Stuart, born February 9, 1954.

James G. Bowers was elected in August to the faculty of the Carlisle Area Joint Schools. He has done graduate work at Shippensburg State Teachers College and also the University of Pennsylvania and since his graduation has served as news editor of the Chambersburg Radio station.

Mr. and Mrs. George C. Ruch, of Carlisle, Pa., announced the birth of a son, George C. Ruch, Jr., on August 10. Mrs. Ruch is the former Betty Lou Fahs. They have a daughter, Roberta Ann, who will be 3 in December.

Lt. Harold S. Irwin, Jr., of the law firm of Irwin & Irwin of Carlisle, was appointed to the Judge Advocate General Corps, 28th Inf. Division in August. He was assigned to Division Headquarters in Harrisburg as an assistant JAG.

Helen Arseniu is practicing law in Lewistown, Pa., where she is associated with the firm of Houck and Barron. She has her office at 24 N. Main St. there. Helen graduated from the Dickinson School of Law in 1954.

Six members of the class received their M.D. degrees upon their graduation from Jefferson Medical College in June. Dr. Robert E. Berry, who was the winner of one of the C. V. Mosby Prizes, is now an interne at Methodist Hospital, Philadelphia. Dr. Robert D. Eppley is an interne at St. Luke's Hospital, Bethlehem, Pa.; while Dr. Robert E. Hicks is interning at the Reading Hospital, Reading, Pa.; Dr. Wilbur H. Miller, Jr., has gone to the Tripler Army Hospital, Honolulu, while Dr. John William Raiford is serving his internship at the City Hospital, Akron, O., and Dr. Raymond J. Wiss is at Nazareth Hospital, Philadelphia.

1952

Mr. and Mrs. John H. O'Brien, of 365 Broadway, Somerville, Mass., announced the birth of a daughter, Deborah Ann, on February 10 last. Mrs. O'Brien is the former Mary E. Moriarity, who graduated from Smith College in 1948. John is associated with the Joseph M. O'Callaghan Co. of Boston, wholesale distributors of floor coverings.

Mr. and Mrs. William A. Berggren, of Houston, Tex., announced the birth of a son, Erik Alfred, on June 14. Bill is working at the research and exploration laboratory of the Shell Development Co. in Houston and will attend the University of Houston this fall to finish his work on his master's degree in geology under Dr. H. B. Stenzel, foremost authority on Cenzoric Gulf Coast Geology. His wife, the former Lois Wilson, '53, taught French and worked as a law librarian in the South Texas Junior College.

Conrad N. Trumbore has been having a busy summer. In June he received his Ph.D. degree in Chemistry at Pennsylvania State University and was awarded a Fulbright appointment to the Netherlands for 1955-56. On August 19 he was married in the Brookline Boulevard Presbyterian Church, Pittsburgh, Pa., to Miss Jean Foight, a graduate in Home Economics at Pennsylvania State University in June. The couple left immediately after their wedding for the Netherlands. Dr. Trumbore held the Shell Fellowship for 1954-55 at Pennsylvania State University.

Thomas W. Bare and Donald J. Bower were awarded the degree of Bachelor of Divinity at the Commencement exercises of Drew University on June 6.

Drew University on June 6. Mr. and Mrs. Wesley Cashatt have recently moved from New York to 1409 Delaware Avenue, Wilmington, Del. Mrs. Cashatt is the former Nancy Cressman. Her husband is assistant to the auditor at the Delaware Power and Light Company.

Mr. and Mrs. Denton Britton Ashway, of 51-1 Garden Circle, Waltham, Mass., announced the birth of a son, Denton Barkdoll, on April 4. Mrs. Ashway is the former Louann Barkdoll. Dent is a district sales representative in Eastern Massachusetts for the National Carbon Co., a division of United Carbide and Carbon Corp.

Announcement has been made of the engagement of Miss Mildred L. Steele to Frank J. Wallis, III, of Dauphin, Pa. Miss Steele completed her college work at Shippensburg State Teachers College and is teaching in the elementary schools in Harrisburg. Mr. Wallis, a graduate of Pennsylvania State University is a chemical engineer with the Sun Oil Company at Marcus Hook. The couple plans an early fall wedding.

William F. Taylor has been serving with the Army since April. His present address is Signal Corp School, Camp Gordon, Ga.

Mr. and Mrs. Erle Minich, of Carlisle, have announced the engagement of their daughter, Virginia Louise, to First Lt. Nicholas David Rahal, of Beckley, W. Va. He is a graduate of West Virginia University and West Virginia University College of Law. He is now serving in the Judge Advocate General's Corps and is Judge Advocate at the Carlisle Barracks. The couple plan an early fall wedding.

Al Rojohn received the degree of Bachelor of Laws from the George Washington University Law School last June and in August became the executive secretary of the Young Republican National Federation, which serves Young Republicans throughout the nation. His headquarters are in Washington, D. C. For the past three years, Al served as assistant to Congressman James Fulton in the latter's Washington office and was active in the Young Republicans Club of Washington.

Charles Herber completed his military stint in July after two years in Europe with Army Intelligence and is now at the University of California for graduate work in history. He holds a Woodrow Wilson Fellowship, which was awarded on the basis of unusual promise as a prospective college teacher.

Mr. and Mrs. Robert W. Farrow have announced the birth of a son, Timothy Hubert, on June 25 at Corwin ,Kan., where Bob was the minister of the Presbyterian Church during the past year. They have returned east, where Bob is in his final year at Union Theological Seminary, New York City.

Rev. Kermit L. Lloyd became the minister of All Saints Episcopal Church, Hershey, Pa., following his graduation in May from the Philadelphia Divinity School with the degree of Bachelor of Divinity. At seminary he was in charge of St. Andrews an interracial church in West Philadelphia, and worked among inmates of the Eastern State Penitentiary.

The Rev. Donald J. Bower graduated from Drew Theological Seminary in June and will continue as pastor of the First Methodist Church, Saint Clair, Pa., where a renovation program has started.

1953

Mr. and Mrs. J. Donald French have moved from Austin, Tex., to 3249 23rd St., S. E., Apt. G-2, Washington 20, D. C. Mrs. French is the former Jane S. Rieck, '52.

Marjorie E. Manson was married to Thomas Parkinson, Jr., of Detroit, Mich., in the Naval Receiving Station Chapel, Anacostia, D. C., on May 20. The couple now reside at 2900 Adams Mill Road, N.W., Apt. 102, Washington, D. C. Mr. and Mrs. Robert Allman, of Atlantic City, announced the birth of a son, David Andrew, on July 27. Bob is entering his third year as a student at Jefferson Medical College.

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Spence have moved to 206 B. Avon Road, Haddonfield, N. J., where Bob will teach school while completing work for his Master's degree.

Kenneth L. Harvey was married to Miss Margaret L. Richardson, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Vaughn Richardson of Newville, Pa., on August 27 in St. Paul's Lutheran Church, Newville. Mrs. Harvey is a graduate of Shippensburg State Teachers College and is a member of the faculty of the Glenside Elementary High School, Glenside, Pa. Ken is a student at the Temple University School of Medicine.

Edward N. Adourian, Jr., received his master's degree from the Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy, which is a Graduate School of Tufts, in cooperation with Harvard University in June. He has enlisted in the United States Army and is taking his basic training at Fort Jackson, S. C.

1954

Mrs. James C. Spear, the former Joan Jacques, has been elected to the faculty of the Carlisle Area Joint Schools. While in Alaska, where her husband was serving in the Army, she did graduate work at the University of Alaska and also was a substitute teacher at the Fairbanks High School. Her husband has enrolled at the Dickinson School of Law and will enter there this month following his discharge from the service.

Lt. Laurence V. Radtke, Jr., and Miss Martha Ann Farner, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. J. L. Farner of Carlisle, were married in the First Presbyterian Church on August 14. Mrs. Radtke is a graduate of the Carlisle High School and was employed by C. H. Masland & Sons. Larry is now serving in the U. S. Armv and the couple will live at Fort Sill, Okla.

Elmer S. Lightner was married to Miss Marcella Lee Adams, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Oscar F. Adams, of Carlisle, in the First Evangelical United Brethren Church on August 20. Lightner is a student at the University of Pennsylvania Medical School. The couple now reside at 205-42nd St., Philadelphia.

Ann Margaret Kunst received her Master of Literature degree at the Commencement exercises of the University of Pittsburgh in June.

H. JoAnn Keith was married to Thomas E. Gildea in St. Mary's Church, Hollidaysburg, on June 11. The couple now reside on Lincoln Way, West, Glen St., Apt. 4, Chambersburg, Pa.

F. Robert Treichler received the degree of Master of Science in Psychology at the Commencement exercises of Pennsylvania State University in June. He was also elected to Psi Chi Psychology Honorary Society. The Beta Pi spring letter of Kappa Sigma

The Beta Pi spring letter of Kappa Sigma fraternity reveals that a number of men in the class are in the service. Robert C. Reed is with an Infantry Regiment stationed at the Schofield Barracks in Hawaii. Daniel Richards is with the Army in Karlsruhe, Germany, while Paul Tarr is nearby in Hanau, Germany. William F. Wall is at the Aberdeen Proving Grounds in Maryland and Gerald E. Ruth is serving with the Marines at Camp Lejeune, N. C.

Mary Ann Myers, science teacher at the high school in Media, Pa., spent July and August in the British Isles and Europe. She was chosen to represent the Ford Foundation Scholarship students from Temple University and was engaged in the collection of material for her Master's degree thesis.

Barbara L. Brennfleck was married to Donald R. Overly on August 20. They now reside at 626 N. Marshall St., Lancaster, Pa.

Mr. and Mrs. George Fox Corse, of Swarthmore, have announced the engagement of their daughter, Mary Denn Corse, to Mr. Harry Princeton Davis, Jr., son of Mr. and Mrs. Harry Princeton Davis, of Rosemont. Mr. Davis is a graduate of Haverford School and of Washington and Lee University.

James A. Paviol has been appointed the exclusive Studebaker dealer for the area in and about Carlisle. He already had the Paviol Garage and had been the Packard agent and since the merger of the two companies, he now sells both Studebaker and Packard. The service facilities at the garage have been increased to take care of the new business.

1955

In June Mr. and Mrs. William D. Hutchins, of Huntingdon Valley, Pa., announced the engagement of their daughter, Billie, to Mr. Glendyn L. Dietz, a student at Pennsylvania State University.

Ruth Costenbader, who graduated last June with Phi Beta Kappa honors, was married the day she received her diploma to Hugh H. Doney, '52, son of Mrs. Paul H. and the late Professor Doney, in the Durbin Oratory in West College. Hugh, who received his master's degree from the University of Pittsburgh, is studying for his doctorate at the University of Texas.

Elizabeth A. Mountz and Ronald Mc-Gowan, '54, were married in St. Paul's Lutheran Church, Carlisle, on June 19. Barbara Minick was maid of honor and Jane Myers was one of the bridesmaids. Edward Sickel was best man and the ushers were Frank Oglesby, Charles Sellers, Dan Minnick and John Gillaugh. Ronnie is a student at the Temple University School of Medicine and his wife will teach at Springfield Township High School, Chestnut Hill, Pa., this fall.

Jeanne R. Caretto was married to Robert L. Wilson in St. Patrick's Church, Carlisle, on June 12. The couple now reside at Redkill Rd., Bedell, N. Y.

In June, Charles Seller became a member of the staff as a political reporter of the Lebanon Daily News, Lebanon, Pa.

Earl M. Reynolds, Dunbar, Pa., is now employed by the Provident Mutual Life Insurance Company of Philadelphia.

Henry D. Clarke, Jr., has moved from Merchantville, N. J., to 3820 McNab Avenue, Long Beach 8, Calif.

Carolyn Ann Denslow is employed as an engineer's aide with the Bell Telephone Co. of Pennsylvania and is living at 383 Hale Street, Harrisburg, Pa.

Pvt. Kenneth W. Hitchner, Jr., is stationed at Fort Huachuca, Ariz., and has made application for OCS at Fort Benning, Ga.

Lt. William H. Frye, U. S. A., was married to Miss Helen B. Hammersberg, daughter of Col. and Mrs. Robert E. Hammersberg, of Silver Spring, Md., in the Carlisle Barracks Chapel on June 26. Mrs. Frye is the granddaughter of Merkel Landis, '96, trustee of the College.

Announcement has been made of the engagement of Marlyn B. McNeal, of Philadelphia, and Donald E. Barber, '53, of New Cumberland, Pa.

Earl O. Hollenbaugh, of R. D. 1, Carlisle, has entered the Graduate Division of the Wharton School of Finance and Commerce, the University of Pennsylvania as a candidate for the degree of Master of Business Administration. He plans to qualify for public accounting.

Robert Hawley is teaching social studies and assisting with football at the Harrisburg Catholic High School.

Mac Eugene Barrick and Forrest C. Grimm will do graduate work at the University of Illinois this term. Mac has a teaching assistantship in Spanish and Forrest a research assistantship in biochemistry.

1956

Mrs. John B. Crum, of Carlisle, has announced the engagement of her daughter, Christine E., to Donald P. Bush, Jr., '54, of West Orange, N. J., who is now serving in the armed forces.

OBITUARY

1885—Guy LeRoy Stevick, 90 year old retired vice president of the Fidelity and Deposit Co. and attorney, died at his home in Atherton, Calif., after a short illness on July 13. In 1946, Dickinson College conferred upon him the honorary degree of Doctor of Laws.

Born in Newburg, Pa. on March 27, 1865, he attended the Dickinson Preparatory School and received the A.B. degree upon his graduation from the college in 1885, and an A.M. degree in 1888. He was graduted that year with an LL.B. degree from the University of Pennsylvania. The same year he began the practice of law in Denver, Colo. and in 1910 he became general counsel and vice president of the San Francisco offices of the Fidelity and Deposit Co.

On April 16, 1889, he married the former Marion Pratt, daughter of Col. R. H. Pratt, who was the founder and first commandant of the Carlisle Indian School. She died about two years ago. They had ten children. Three of his sons, Guy LeRoy Stevick, Jr., Theron P. Stevick and Mason D. Stevick, preceeded their father in death. He is survived by two sons, Gerold C. Stevick, of Casablanca, Morocco and Donald Stevick, of Menlo Park and five daughters, Mrs. Randolph Sizer, of Berkeley; Mrs. Richard N. Taylor, of Cairo, Egypt; Mrs. Charles Wells, of Atherton; Dorothy Stevick, of San Francisco and Mrs. Arthur W Ellis, of Palo Alto. He also leaves 13 grandchildren and 3 great-grandchildren.

He was a member of Phi Beta Kappa and Chi Phi fraternity, a Mason and a member of the Shrine. He was also a member of the American and California Bar Associations and the Fellowship Forum of Palo Alto.

He was the author of a study entitled "Status of Unincorporated Associations in Pennsylvania," and several other papers on surety and insurance policies.

With a life-time interest in Dickinson affairs, he was a Life Member of the General Alumni Association and an annual contributor to the Annual Giving Fund. The July issue of the *Bulletin* which was published before his death told of the fact that he always made a contribution to the Alumni Fund of \$1.00 a year for each year he was out of College. Last year one of his gifts was for \$70. Since his death several contributions have been received in his memory from friends and business associates.

1891—The Rev. Dr. Henry Clay Turner, retired minister of the Philadelphia Methodist Conference and father of two Dickinsonians, died on July 20 at the Dowden Nursing Home, Newtown Square, Pa., where he lived for the last four years of his life. He was 88 years of age. He was a native of Nanticoke, Mass.

He prepared for college at Wilmington Conference Academy and received his A.B. from the College in 1891 and his A.M. in 1894. Following his graduation he was a member of the Peninsula Conference of the Methodist Church and was a minister for more than 45 years. He retired in 1937 as pastor of the Methodist Church in Paoli, Pa. He was a member of Phi Kappa Psi fraternity and the Belle Lettres Literary Society.

Surviving are two daughters, Mrs. Charles E. Thomas, the former Lida Larimore Turner, '18, of Colonial Village, Wayne, Pa., and Mrs. Sam W. Litzenberger, of Anderson, Ind., and a son, Richard L. Turner, '24, of Alexandria, Va. and six grandchildren, 1892—The Rev. Dr. John Leonard Hynson, who was pastor emeritus of the Fourth Street Presbyterian Church at Lebanon, Pa., died at his home there on July 21. He had served that church continuously for 34 years.

Born in Henderson, Md. on January 16, 1869, he prepared for college at the Church Hill Academy and Wilmington Conference Academy. Following his graduation with an A.B. degree in 1892, he was a high school principal for 2 years before entering Princeton Theological Seminary from which he graduated in 1897. He also did postgraduate work there. He was a member of Phi Kappa Psi fraternity and the Belles Lettres Society.

Dr. Hynson organized the first Boy Scout Troop in Lebanon and was a past president of the Rotary Club there. He was a member of the board of Associated Charities and during World War II served on the draft board. He retired in 1937.

He is survived by his wife, the former Mary Bunting; a daughter, Mary, wife of Paul Challenger, Maplewood, N. J.; two sons, Charles L., New York, and Robert C., Laurel, Miss.; ten grandchildren and four great-grandchildren. A son, James preceded him in death ten years ago.

1895—Miss Emma Viola Harry, retired school teachers and descendant of one of Cumberland County's earliest families, died on May 12 in the State Hospital, Rochester, N. Y. after an illness of nearly 20 years. Her mother was the former Emma S. Mullin of Mt. Holly Springs, Pa.

Born in Chambersburg, Pa., on November 24, 1875 she attended the Carlisle High School and the Dickinson Preparatory School. She graduated from the college with Phi Beta Kappa honors in 1895 and received her A.M. degree the next year. Following her graduation she was secretary to the President of the College and a tutor of Greek and German. Later, she taught in high schools in West Pittston and Newcastle, Pa., before joining the faculty at the State Normal School at Geneseo. N. Y., where she served until illness caused her retirement.

Her only survivors are her cousins, Mrs. Helen M. Bucher, of Boiling Springs; Miss Alice A. Mullin, of Carlisle; Mrs. J. Austin Brandt, of Harrisburg and Mrs. Julia Gray Cook, of Wilkinsburg, Pa.

Interment was made in the Harry Plot in the Mt. Holly Springs Cemetery.

1900—The Rev. John P. McCurdy, retired minister of the Central Pennsylvania Methodist Conference, died on May 31 at the Tyrone Methodist Home for the Aged following an extended illness.

Born on December 17, 1877 in Clearfield, Pa., he was the son of Daniel W. McCurdy who graduated from the college in 1862. At one time his mother, the former Annie Paine, was organist of Allison Methodist Church in Carlisle.

A graduate of Clearfield High School, he received his Ph.D. degree in 1900 and for some years was on the staff of the Clearfield newspaper. He was ordained to the ministry in 1916 and served various charges in the Central Penna. Conference. His wife died in 1942, when he took up his residence at the Tyrone Home. Like his father, he was a member of Phi Kappa Psi fraternity and the UP Society.

The Rev. Herbert W. Glassco, '22, officiated at the services and was assisted by the Rev. Harry C. Stenger and the Rev. Clark J. Redmond.

1901-Jay Zeamer, retired New York exporter, died on August 24 in the Orange Memorial Hospital, Orange, New Jersey after a short illness. He was a former vice president of the Charles A. Scherwin Company and a former official of the Grayton & Knight Company, both New York leather exporters. He was also a former director of the Export Manufacturers Association, New York.

Born in Carlisle on August 17, 1880, he graduted from the Dickinson Preparatory School and was a student at the college for two years. He first became affiliated with the Reading Railroad and for a time was secretary to the Commissioner of Education in Puerto Rico. Later he became associated with the National Railroad in Mexico.

His wife, the former Margery Herman, '13, died on September 8, 1954. Surviving are two sons, Lt. Col. Jay Zeamer, Jr., of the Air Force and Richard Jere Zeamer, and two daughters, Mrs. James R. LaRose and Mrs. George C. Dacey and eleven grandchildren.

1903-Paul Gooden, of Highland, Calif., died in the hospital at San Bernadino, Calif. on June 22, 1955, following a stroke when he developed pneumonia.

Born in Hazlettville, Del. on October 31, 1878, he attended the Nazareth Hall Military Academy, Nazareth, Pa. After a year as a student of the college, he was employed by the Philadelphia Rapid Transit Co. and then for a number of years by the Santa Fe Railroad as an accountant. A member of the Methodist Church, he was a Mason, and a Shriner.

He is survived by his wife, the former Clara Gorecka, whom he married on July 10, 1929 in Riverside, Calif.

1905—The Rev. John Horace Barnes, retired minister of the Philadelphia Methodist Conference and father of the Rev. John Horace Barnes, Jr., '33, died in the Good Samaritan Hospital, Lebanon, Pa. on June 18 of an embolism. His son is now pastor Lehman Memorial Methodist Church, Hatboro, Pa.

Born in Philadelphia, he was a graduate of the Central High School there and graduated from the college in 1905. The next year he became a member of the Philadelphia Conference and served as pastor of a number of important churches of the Conference until his retirement in 1953. Since November of that year he has been a guest of the Methodist Church Home, Cornwall, Pa. In addition to his work in the pastorate, he was dean of the summer institute held at Collegeville.

A member of Kappa Sigma fraternity, he was a Mason and a member of Tacony No. 600 F. & A. M.

In addition to his son, he is survived by his wife, the former Ethel Lang, whom he married in 1951. His first wife, Elsie Gossler Barnes, died in 1939. Interment was made in North Cedar Hill Cemetery, Frankford, Pa.

1906—Thomas Latimer Brooks, superintendent of public schools in Somerville, N. J. from 1921 until his retirement in 1945, died suddenly of a heart attack in his summer home at Bryant Pond, Maine on August 29. Born in Delta, Pa. on March 24, 1878, he attended the Millersville State Normal School and graduated from Dickinson College with Phi Beta Kappa honors in 1906. He was awarded his Master's degree by Columbia Univ. At one time he was principal of the Carlisle High School 1906-1910 and Supervising principal of Public Schools at Lewistown, Pa., 1910-1917 and Newton, N. J., before going to Somerville, N. J., as superintendent in 1921. He also taught during summer sessions at Rutgers University and Temple University. With a lifetime interest in Dickinson College, he was looking forward to his 50th reunion next June. At Dickinson he was a member of Kappa Sigma fraternity and of Ravens Claw and he sent his son to the college as a student.

He was a member of the Reformed Church, a Mason and a Rotarian. He held memberships in N.E.A., N.J.E.A., the National Association School Superintendents, the N. J. Council of Education and the N. J. Schoolmen's Club.

He served in the Army during the Spanish American War from 1898 to 1899 and was a member of his local defense board during World War I and a member of the Somerville Selective Service Board in World War II.

He is survived by his wife, Mrs. Fay B. Brooks; his son, Thomas L. Brooks, Jr., '33, who is associated with the Prudential Insurance Co. in Jacksonville, Fla.; a daughter, Mrs. George Dodd, of West Orange, N. J.; four grandchildren and a sister.

1907—Mrs. Helen Uhrich Snoke died at her home in Washington, Pa., following an illness of several months on May 24. She was the widow of the Rev. Charles E. Snoke, a Presbyterian minister, who died on March 15, 1951.

Born in Mechanicsburg, Pa., on October 13, 1883, she attended Mechanicsburg High School and Wilson College and graduated from Dickinson College in 1907 with Phi Beta Kappa honors. She was a member of Chi Omega.

Mrs. Snoke was a former member of the Martha Washington Garden Club, the Current Events Club, the W.C.T.U. and a former officer of the Washington Presbyterial. She also had been active in the affairs of the A.A.U.W. At one time she taught in the high school at Washington, Pa. and was the author of "Letters to My Seven Children."

A son, Capt. Donald S. Snoke, was killed in action in Japan during World War II. She is survived by six other children; Josephine S. Craft, Washington, Pa.; Charles E. Snoke, Jr., Long Island, N. Y.; Helen B. Snoke, Harrisburg; Dr. Paul C. Snoke, Washington; Jean, wife of Carl E. Fischer, Cleveland, O. and Margaret, wife of Maxwell Brown. A sister, Beatrice McClintock, Mechanicsburg, also survives.

1908—The Rev. Dr. John J. Bunting died two days following an operation in the Marine Hospital, Baltimore on May 19. Three days earlier he attended the Peninsula Annual Methodist Conference at Wilmington and had been reappointed pastor of the Unity-Washington Church in Hurlock, Md. The next day he was taken to the hospital and operated upon.

At the time of his 40th reunion in June 1948, Dickinson College conferred the honorary degree of Doctor of Humane Letters upon him. He was then serving as pastor of St. Paul's Methodist Church in Cambridge, Md. The University of Maryland conferred an honorary degree of Doctor of Divinity upon him in 1933.

He served in various churches of the Peninsula Conference and also as superintendent of the Salisbury District. In 1939, he headed the Wilmington Conference delegation to the National Uniting Conference in Kansas City.

He was born in Bishopville, Md. on August 23, 1886 and graduated from the Wilmington Conference Acadamy and from Dickinson College in 1908.

He is survived by his wife, and his son, the Rev. John J. Bunting, Jr., '40, pastor at Newark, Del.

1911-William B. Landis prominent attorney of Scranton, Pa., died in the Hahnemann Hospital there after a long illness on April 20. He was 69 years of age and was a member of the Lackawanna County Bar for 41 years.

Born in Rock Glen, Pa., he attended Bloomsburg Normal School and received his Ph.B. degree from the College in 1911. He was an elective student at the Law School, completed his training at the Columbia University Law School, where he received his LL.B. degree in 1914 and an A.M. from the College. During World War I he served as a Captain with the American Red Cross.

For several years he was a deputy state attorney general of the closed banks division of the State Banking Department.

He was a member of Alpha Chi Rho fraternity, Delta Sigma Rho, the Elks and he was a Mason. He was a member of the Methodist Church and the Junior Order, United American Mechanics and a charter member of the Lake Winola Canoe Club.

He is survived by his wife, the former Edith Parks, and their two sons, William B., Jr., Esq., of New York City, and Frank Parks, of Schenectady, N. Y.; two brothers and three grandchildren.

1911—Col. Leon Henry Richmond, who just retired from a distinguished career in the service, died on May 30 in Maryville, Tenn., and was buried in Arlington National Cemetery with full military honors.

Born in Rhode Island on April 14, 1888, he attended East Stroudsburg Normal School before entering the College. He taught at East Stroudsburg in 1911-13 and was professor of Physics at Western Maryland College from 1913 to 1917. With the outbreak of World War I, he entered the service and served through that war and World War II. He was awarded the Legion of Merit; and Commendation Ribbon with Metal Pendant. In World War II he received the Victory Medal and at his retirement was a full Colonel.

He did graduate work at Columbia University and received the M.A. degree from the University of Iowa in 1924.

He is survived by his widow, Clara Lewis Richmond; a son, Walker L.; and two daughters, Mrs. Catherine R. Morgan; and Mrs. Miriam R. Steward, of South Bend, Ind.

1914—Ella M. Rothermal, a teacher in the schools of Wilkes-Barre, Pa., for about 18 years, died of pneumonia in Wilkes-Barre on March 6, 1955. She was the sister of Mrs. J. H. Super, the former Sadie P. Rothermel, '09.

Born in Yellow House, Pennsylvania on May 22, 1890, she prepared for college at Kutztown Teachers College. She was a member of the Lutheran Church and of the A. A. U. W.

1918—Edmund J. Koser, who was executive director and secretary of the Montgomery County Housing Authority and for some years associated with Koser Bros., realtors in Ardmore, Pa., died in the U. S. Naval Hospital, Philadelphia, on April 29. Interment was made in the Valley Forge Gardens, Valley Forge, Pa.

Born in Newville, Pa., on December 10, 1894, he graduated from The Carlisle High School, was a student at the college and also attended the University of Pittsburgh Night School of Accounting.

He was a member of SAE fraternity and of the Presbyterian Church. He was active in Masonry being a member of the Scottish Rite Bodies and of Lulu Temple of the Shrine.

His war service was with the Army. He is survived by his wife, the former Emily A. McConnell, of Carlisle, and their son, Edmund J. Jr. 1919, 1922L-Richard W. Lins, prominent attorney and churchman of Bedford, Pa., died on August 16 from gunshot wounds suffered in a tragic hunting accident.

He served two terms as a district attorney of Bedford County and two terms as president of the Bedford County Bar Association. He was an active member of the Bedford Methodist Church, for many years a member of the choir and superintendent of the Sunday School and at the time of his death he was president of the Official Board and the Board of Trustees of the Church.

A loyal Dickinsonian and a regular visitor to the campus, he was a Life Member of the General Alumni Association. He married the former Ruth A. Booty, '23 and their two children Lillian Elizabeth Lins graduated from the college in 1938 and their son Richard W. Lins, Jr. in 1952.

Born in Carlisle on October 10, 1895, he graduated from the Carlisle High School, from the college in 1919 and from the Law School in 1922. He served in the Armed Forces during World War I and was a Past Commander of the Bedford Post of the American Legion.

A member of Theta Chi fraternity, he was a Past Master of Bedford Lodge No. 320 F & AM, a member of the Bedford Royal Arch Chapter, Mountain Commandery of Knights Templar and the Jaffa Temple of the Shrine in Altoona. He also held memberships in the Odd Fellows and various local organizations in Bedford, Pa.

1922-1924L—John L. Bitner, who recently became associated with the Department of Justice in Washington, D. C., died suddenly at his home in Baltimore on July 16. He was a native of Cumberland County and at one time practiced law in Enola. Later he was associated with the legal department of the Federal Land Bank of Baltimore before going with the Department of Justice.

Born in Duncannon, Pa., on October 8, 1899, he attended the Enola High School and was a graduate of Harrisburg Technical High School. While at the college he was a member of the Students Army Training Corps and graduated from the Law School in 1924. A member of Theta Chi fraternity, he was also a member of West Shore Lodge No. 681 F. and A.M., the Harrisburg Consistory and Boumi Temple of Baltimore, He and his wife were regular attendants at meetings of the Dickinson Club of Baltimore and they also visited the campus.

He was one of the organizers of the Chesapeake Chinchilla Club and served as its first president. He was the owner of the Blue Star Chinchilla Ranch. He was a member of the Church of the Redeemer, Baltimore.

He is survived by his wife, the former Marguerite Risley Bitner, three brothers, three sisters and two nieces. Burial was made in Druid Ridge Cemetery, Baltimore.

1928L-Earl E. Keyser, editor of the Lancaster Intelligencer Journal since 1948, died suddenly of a heart attack at his home in Lancaster, Pa., on May 11.

A native of York, he was a graduate of the York Collegiate Institute before attending the Law School. He was a former president of the Pennsylvania Society of Newspaper Editors and a director at the time of his death.. He was also a member of the American Society Newspaper Editors and the Association of Pennsylvania Managing Editors. He was active in the affairs of the Lancaster County Historical Society and the Lancaster Free Library. He was a member of the Lutheran Church and a Rotarian.

Surviving are his wife, the former Thelma G. Hoke, and two sons.

1933—Howard S. McLeary, teacher and former coach at the Media High School, died of a brain tumor in the Hahnemann Hospital in Philadelphia on May 3 after a long illness.

Born in Kennett Square, Pa. on February 22, 1906, he graduated from the West Philadelphia High School and following his graduation from the college in 1933 did graduate work at Temple, Drexel and the University of Pennsylvania.

For about 10 years he was on the faculty of the Ferris Industrial School, Wilmington, Pa. and from 1942 until his death at the Media High School. Before going to Media, he was athletic director of the prison recreation program at Eastern Penitentiary.

A member of the Methodist Church, he was a member of the Phi Kappa Sigma Chapter at Dickinson and of various professional associations.

He is survived by his wife, the former Isabel Paul of Mahanoy City; two sons, Paul, 10, and Warren, 8; a daughter, Deborah, 6; his mother, a brother and a sister.

1940L—John D. Faller, Jr. died of wounds received when he was shot during the trial of a non-support case in the Cumberland County Court House, Carlisle, Pa., on August 2. His assailant has been indicted for murder.

He is survived by his wife, the former Elizabeth Billow, '34, their son, John D. Faller, III; his mother, Mrs. John D. Faller; and his brother, George B. Faller, '43L. He was the son of the late John D. Faller, '09L. He and his brother were associated in the law firm of Faller & Faller, with offices in the Farmers Trust Company building.

A member of St. Patrick's Roman Catholic Church, he was a charter member of the Knights of Columbus. He was general manager of the Mt. Holly Water Company and a member of the Cumberland County, Pennsylvania and United States Bar Associations.

NECROLOGY

Mrs. Beulah E. Fry, mother of three Dickinsonians, and the widow of U. Grant Fry of Camp Hill, Pa., died in a nursing home on July 31 at the age of 76 years. She was the mother of Gordon E. Fry, '19, of Camp Hill; Harold C. Fry, '20, of New Kingstown nnd Dr. Chloe O. Fry, '25, of New Kingstown. Mrs. Fry was a member of Trinity Lutheran Church, Camp Hill and for more

Mrs. Fry was a member of Trinity Lutheran Church, Camp Hill and for more than 35 years was superintendent of the Cradle Roll Department. She was a charter member of the Camp Hill Civic Club and also a charter member of the Ladies' Auxiliary of the Camp Hill Post of the American Legion.

Mrs. Elizabeth Davis Wing, who had been living with her elder son, Professor Herbert Wing, Jr., died in the Carlisle Hospital at the age of 86 years on May 24. She was the widow of Herbert Wing, of Russels Mills Road, South Dartmouth, Mass., where interment was made.

Besides Prof. Wnig she is survived by another son, Lawrence P. Wing, chief teller in the Five Cents Savings Bank of New Bedford, a brother, Dr. Charles A. Potter, of St. Charles, Ill., and four grandchildren, one of whom is H. Gilman Wing, Jr., '48.

DIRECTORY OF ALUMNI CLUBS

Dickinson Club of Altoona

Jeanette Stevens, '10President Roy N. Hoffman, '30Vice-President Dorothy E. Harpster, '28 ..Vice-President Rev. G. H. Ketterer, D. D., '08 ..Secretary Warriors Mark, Pa. George K. Cox, '40Treasurer

Dickinson Club of Atlantic City

Lloyd E. Spangler, '22 Vice-President Mabel E. Kirk, '05 ... Secretary-Treasurer

Dickinson Club of Baltimore

Catherine S. Eitemiller, '46President Theodore R. Bonwit, '53Vice-President Martha L. Wels, '53Vice-President Edna R. Eitemiller, '52Secretary 7 Aintree Road, Towson 4, Md. Robert C. Respess, '41Treasurer

Dickinson Club of California

Rev. L. D. Gottshall, '22 President Joseph Z. Hertzler, '13, Secretary-Treasurer 1865 Sacramento St., San Francisco, Cal.

Dickinson Club of Chicago

John W. Garrett, '19President Mrs. William G. Gray, '27 ...Vice-President Mrs. P. O. BeHanna, '27Secty.-Treas. 230 Bloom St., Highland Park, Ill.

Dickinson Club of Cleveland

George G. Landis, '20President Mrs. H. W. Lyndall, Jr., '35Vice-Pres.

Dickinson Club of Colorado

Fred E. Johnson, '09President Ruth Bigham, '14Secretary-Treasurer 1640 Detroit St., Denver, Col.

Dickinson Club of Delaware

Dickinson Club of Hagerstown

H. Monroe Ridgely, '26President Wilson P. Sperow, '14Vice-President Mrs. E. C. Washabaugh, '42 ...Secty.-Treas 231 W. Main St., Waynesboro, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Harrisburg

Lewis F. Adler, '30President John D. Hopper, '48.....Vice-President William D. Caldwell, '48 ...Vice-President Howell C. Mette, '48Secy.-Treas. 1609 Kent Road, Camp Hill, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Lehigh Valley

Jerome W. Berkepile, Jr., '40 ... President Mrs. R. H. Griesemer, '33 ... Vice-President Mrs. Walter L. Sandercock, '29. Sec.-Treas. 105 Robinson Ave., Pen Argyl, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Michigan Roscoe O. Bonisteel, '12 President Walter H. E. Scott, '21LSecty.-Treas. 310 E. Jefferson, Detroit 32, Mich.

Dickinson Club of New York

Benjamin Epstein, '33President J. Cameron Frendlich, '13..Vice-President Miss Margaret McMullen, '51..Sec.-Treas. 816 Lexington Ave., New York 21, N. Y.

Dickinson Alumni Association of Northeastern Pennsylvania Gomer Morgan, '11LPresident

William P. Farrell, '21L Treasurer Hopkin T. Rowlands, '31L Secretary 930 Miners National Bank Bldg., Wilkes-Barre, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Northern New Jersey

Roy D. Tolliver, '31 President Mrs. Mary Read Oerther, '26...Vice-President Edward E. Johnson, '32Secy.-Treas. lward E. Johnson, '32 Secy.-Treas. 73 Lawrence Avenue, West Orange, N. J.

Dickinson Club of Ohio

Walter V. Edwards, '10President Robert S. Aronson, '43Secty.-Treas. P. O. Box 568, Columbus 16, Ohio

Dickinson Club of Philadelphia

Dr. Robert L. D. Davidson, '31 ... President James L. McIntire, '35 ... Vice-President Mrs. S. S. Lynch, '26 Secty.-Treas. C. Wendell Holmes, '21 Secty.-Treas. 904 Blythe Avenue, Drexel Hill, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Pittsburgh

Clarence B. Nixon, Jr., '46President James L. Bruggeman, '50 ..Vice-President Mrs. A. H. Bagenstose, '43 ...Secty.-Trees. 13 McMurray Road, RD 2, Bridgeville, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Reading-Berks

Frederick G. McGavin, '39President Llewellyn R. Bingaman, '31, '32L . Vice-Pres. Mrs. W. Richard Eshelman, '43. Sec.-Treas. R. D. No. 2, Sinking Spring, Pa,

Dickinson Club of Southern California

Hewlings Mumper, '10President Joseph S. Stephens, '26Secty.-Treas. 3231 Midvale Ave., Los Angeles 34, Cal.

Southern Del-Mar-Va Dickinson Club

Rehoboth Beach, Delaware

Dickinson Club of Southern New Jersey

Evan D. Pearson, '38President Leighton J. Heller, '23, '25L, Vice-President

Dickinson Club of Central New Jersey

Royce V. Halnes, '30President Mrs. A. F. Winkler, '29 ...Vice-President Bernard L. Green, '32Secty.-Treas. 1202 Broad St. Bank Bidg., Trenton 8, N. J.

Dickinson Club of Washington

Paul A. Mangan, '34 President Dr. Robert N. Coale, '39 ...Vice-President William J. Batrus, '38 ...Vice-President Mrs. John L. Rowland, '27 ...Asst. Secty. Maude E. Wilson, '14Secretary 1789 Lanier Place, Washington, D. C. John Springer, '44Treasurer

Dickinson Club of West Branch Valley

L. Waldo Herritt, '33, '35LPresident Dr. William D. Angle, '30 ..Vice-President Mrs. Hamilton H. Herritt, '30, Secty.-Treas. 208 West Main St., Lock Haven, Pa.

Dickinson Club of York

Judge Harvey Gross, '01LPresident Dorothy M. Badders, '32 ..Vice-President J. R. Budding, '32, '36LSecty.-Treas. 19 East Market St., York, Pa.

New York Alumnae Club

Mrs. William Spencer, '30President Mrs. Clifford Connor, '30President Mrs. Herbert L. Davis, '21Secty.-Treas. 239 Harrison Ave., Highland Park, N. J.

TWO BIG FALL DATES

Parents' Day October 22, 1955

Homecoming

Alumni Luncheon

AT NOON

DICKINSON VS JOHNS HOPKINS 2:00 P. M. November 12, 1955